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Dear Fellow Shareholders:

2020 was a year like no other as the U.S. economy and the rest of the world were battered by the pandemic’s 
impact. Efforts to contain the COVID-19 virus and save lives resulted in the closure of businesses and record 
unemployment. Today, the rollout of multiple vaccines gives hope for a return to “normal” across the U.S. 
and the world. What that new normal will be will have significant consequences for all sectors of the real 
estate industry.

Year in Review: 2020

In response to the pandemic, our teams at the properties and our corporate office worked tirelessly to promote 
health and safety while keeping our buildings open. Physical distancing protocols, common area enhancements, 
enhanced cleaning and upgraded air filtration all contributed to protecting our customers’ well-being, and we 
are ready and well-prepared to welcome everyone back.

The EQC team has risen to the challenge of a trying year and successfully executed its goals. A key achievement 
was the disposition of three properties for $757 million early in the year. We also completed 142,000 square 
feet of new and renewal leases in the four-property portfolio. Leased occupancy decreased by 580 basis points 
to 85.7%, GAAP rental rates on new and renewal leases increased by 11.9%, and cash rental rates were lower 
by 1.4%.

The three properties we sold in 2020 were:

• 109 Brookline in Boston, Massachusetts, for $270 million or $946 per square foot. We stabilized the 
property at 99% leased after renewing a 77,000 square foot tenant and quickly backfilling a large move-out 
with a new 71,000 square foot software company. Given the property’s location near Fenway Park in the 
Longwood Medical district and its potential for lab conversion, there was significant interest from multiple, 
well-capitalized buyers for the property. 

• Tower 333 in Bellevue, Washington, for $402 million or $922 per square foot. In 2018, we signed a 16-year
 lease for 429,000 square feet with Amazon following Expedia’s decision to move to a new location. 

• The Green and Harris Buildings in Georgetown, Washington, DC, for $85 million or $353 per square foot.
We stabilized the property when we signed an 18-year lease for 112,000 square feet with the sub-tenant, the 
British School, at the Green Building and extended Georgetown University for two years at the Harris 
Building. 

We utilized proceeds from these sales and repurchased $21 million of our common stock, repaid at par our 
last remaining loan outstanding, a $25 million 5.7% mortgage, and paid $427 million of common distributions.

We have consistently executed on our strategic goals. Since taking responsibility for Equity Commonwealth, 
we have sold $7.6 billion of assets, repaid $3.3 billion of debt and preferred equity, paid $1.2 billion of 
common distributions, and repurchased $266 million of common stock. We are in a unique position, with no 
debt and cash on the balance sheet of approximately $3 billion or more than $24 per share. 



Capital Allocation

Given our cash position and small portfolio, our focus is squarely on evaluating opportunities for future 
growth. We want to reiterate that we are considering a range of sectors in the real estate industry. On our 
fourth quarter earnings call we addressed the types of transactions we have considered and provided additional 
insight into our process. We have a contrarian approach, as going with the herd generally does not yield 
superior results. In addition to looking for the right platform and asset class, we are looking to identify other 
levers for value creation beyond asset management and operational enhancements. In the case of the original 
Commonwealth transaction in 2014, we underwrote not just a collection of assets trading at a significant 
discount but also a unique tax position that has allowed us to sell assets and retain capital to pursue new 
opportunities.

Our Team

We are an unconventional REIT and recognize the unique opportunity we have to reposition our business. 
We have built a solid foundation with a talented and enthusiastic team, strong governance, and a culture of 
entrepreneurialism, discipline, transparency, and collaboration. We have executed on our plan, generated 
substantial liquidity and created capacity for future growth. Our interests are aligned with yours, and we will 
remain disciplined as we look for the right opportunity for long-term value creation.

This spring, we said farewell to Adam Markman, EVP, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, as he has chosen 
to pursue other opportunities. Adam was a great partner and leader, and he will be missed. We wish Adam 
the very best.

We are fortunate to have a strong Board of Trustees comprised of thoughtful and highly engaged individuals 
dedicated to creating value for shareholders. As our board acknowledges the importance of board refreshment, 
we are thrilled to have recently added Ellen-Blair Chube as a Trustee. In addition, four trustees who have 
been with us since we took over responsibility for the company have stepped down — James Corl, Edward 
Glickman, James Lozier, and Ken Shea. We are thankful for their contributions and counsel as we transformed 
Equity Commonwealth.

To our Board of Trustees and our fellow shareholders, thank you for your continued support and confidence.

Sam Zell  David Helfand
ChairmanChairman  President and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute forward-looking statements within the 
meaning of the federal securities laws including, but not limited to, statements pertaining to our capital resources, portfolio 
performance, results of operations or anticipated market conditions, including our statements regarding the overall impact of 
COVID-19 on the foregoing to the extent we make any such statements. Any forward-looking statements contained in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K are intended to be made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the 
Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements relate to expectations, beliefs, projections, future plans and strategies, anticipated 
events or trends and similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. In some cases, you can identify 
forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” 
“plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” or “potential” or the negative of these words and phrases or similar 
words or phrases which are predictions of or indicate future events or trends and which do not relate solely to historical matters. 
You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions.

Any forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect our current views about future 
events and are subject to numerous known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and changes in circumstances that 
may cause our actual results to differ significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. We do not guarantee 
that the transactions and events described will happen as described (or that they will happen at all). We disclaim any obligation 
to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect changes in underlying assumptions or factors, of new 
information, data or methods, future events or other changes. For a further discussion of these and other factors that could cause 
our future results to differ materially from any forward-looking statements, see the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE
 

References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to "the Company", "EQC", "we", "us" or "our", refer to Equity 
Commonwealth and its consolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020, unless the context indicates otherwise. 

On November 19, 2020, the SEC adopted amendments to Items 301, 302 and 303 of Regulation S-K, which became 
effective on February 10, 2021.  Although mandatory compliance is not required until our fiscal year ending December 31, 
2021, early adoption is permitted, and we have elected to early adopt amended Items 301, 302 and 303 of Regulation S-K in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. 

PART I

Item 1.    Business.

The Company.    We are an internally managed and self-advised real estate investment trust, or REIT, primarily engaged 
in the ownership and operation of office buildings in the United States. We were formed in 1986 under Maryland law and we 
have elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code. The Company operates 
as what is commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership real estate investment trust, or UPREIT, conducting substantially all 
of its activities through EQC Operating Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust, or the Operating Trust.

The Company beneficially owned 99.80% of the outstanding shares of beneficial interest, designated as units, or OP 
Units, in the Operating Trust, as of December 31, 2020, and the Company is the sole trustee of the Operating Trust.  As the sole 
trustee, the Company generally has the power under the declaration of trust of the Operating Trust to manage and conduct the 
business of the Operating Trust, subject to certain limited approval and voting rights of other holders of OP Units. 

At December 31, 2020, our portfolio consisted of four properties, with a total of 1.5 million square feet. Over the past 
seven years, we disposed of 164 properties and three land parcels totaling 44.3 million square feet for an aggregate gross sales 
price of $6.9 billion, as well as $704.8 million of common shares of Select Income REIT.  The remaining four properties were 
85.7% leased and had 81.7% commenced occupancy as of December 31, 2020.  In 2020, the Company completed three 
property dispositions totaling $756.5 million.  Since 2014, we have used proceeds to retire $3.3 billion of debt and preferred 
shares and paid $1.2 billion in distributions to our common shareholders.  We have $3.0 billion of cash and cash equivalents 
and no debt outstanding as of December 31, 2020.   

The COVID-19 outbreak caused significant business and economic disruptions in 2020, including for tenants at our 
properties.  The Company experienced a significant reduction in leasing interest and activity as well as parking revenue when 
compared to pre-pandemic levels.  In response to the pandemic, we adapted our business operations, including transitions to 
working from home and in the office in the new social distancing environment.  The vast majority of our employees and our 
tenants' employees are currently working at least in part remotely and may be subject to government-imposed restrictions.  Our 
emphasis continues to be on tenant, building staff and employee safety and productivity while maintaining our focus on rent 
collections.  The impact of the pandemic on our business in 2021 and beyond is uncertain. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we entered into leases, excluding leasing activity for assets during the quarter 
in which the asset was sold or classified as held for sale, for 142,000 square feet, including lease renewals for 76,000 square 
feet and new leases for 66,000 square feet.  Leases entered into during the year ended December 31, 2020, including both lease 
renewals and new leases, had weighted average cash rental rates that were approximately 1.4% lower than prior rental rates for 
the same space and weighted average GAAP rental rates that were approximately 11.9% higher than prior rental rates for the 
same space.  

As of December 31, 2020, approximately 8.4% of our leased square feet and 7.4% of our annualized rental revenue are 
included in leases scheduled to expire through December 31, 2021.  Renewal and new leases and rental rates at which available 
space may be relet in the future will depend on prevailing market conditions at the times these leases are negotiated.  We 
believe that the in-place cash rents for leases expiring in 2021, that have not been backfilled, are below market. 

Business Strategy.    While we remain focused on creating value through proactive asset management and improved 
operating results, we are evaluating opportunities to invest capital in high-quality assets or businesses in favorable markets that 
offer a compelling risk-reward profile.  The set of opportunities that we may pursue include acquisitions and/or investments in a 
range of property types.  Alternatively, we may determine to sell, liquidate or otherwise exit our business through one or more 
transactions if we believe doing so will maximize shareholder value.  
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Human Capital Resources.    As of December 31, 2020, we had 28 full-time employees, reduced from 66 full-time 
employees as of December 31, 2015, as the size of our property portfolio decreased.  Our employee compensation program 
consists of the following: (i) base salary, (ii) annual cash bonus, (iii) long-term, at-risk time and performance-based equity 
awards, and (iv) health and welfare benefits.  Each year, we set corporate, department and individual goals that we use to 
measure performance during our annual review process.  We believe that the structure of our compensation program is aligned 
with the interests of our shareholders, rewards performance and serves to attract and retain employees. We also believe that our 
entrepreneurial culture, which is focused on encouraging transparency and open communication based on our guiding 
principles, is an important contributor to our success.  We strive to provide our employees with a variety of resources and tools 
to promote training and development. 

Our principal executive offices are located at Two North Riverside Plaza, Suite 2100, Chicago, Illinois 60606, our 
telephone number is (312) 646-2800 and our website is www.eqcre.com.  

Investment Policies.    In evaluating potential property investments and dispositions, we consider various factors, 
including but not limited to the following:

• the type of properties;

• the risk-adjusted returns projected for the properties;

• the historical and projected rents received and likely to be received from the properties;

• the historical and expected operating expenses, including real estate taxes, incurred and expected to be incurred at the 
properties;

• the growth, tax and regulatory environments of the market in which the properties are located;

• the quality and credit worthiness of the tenants;

• occupancy and demand for similar properties in the same or nearby markets;

• the construction quality, physical condition and design of the properties, and expected capital expenditures that may 
need to be made;

• the location of the properties; and

• the pricing of comparable properties as evidenced by recent market sales.

We have no policies that specifically limit the percentage of our assets that may be invested in any individual property, in 
any one type of property, in properties in one geographic area, in properties leased to any one tenant, in properties leased to an 
affiliated group of tenants, in real estate joint ventures or in participating, convertible or other types of mortgages.  We have in 
the past provided seller financing for properties we have sold and may do so again in the future.

In the past, we have considered the possibility of acquiring other companies or entering into mergers or strategic 
combinations with other companies.  We may undertake such considerations in the future.

Financing Policies.    We may seek additional capital through equity offerings, debt financings, retention of cash flows in 
excess of distributions to shareholders or a combination of these methods. To the extent that our Board of Trustees decides to 
obtain debt financing, we may do so on an unsecured basis or a secured basis, subject to limitations in existing financing or 
other contractual arrangements; we may seek to obtain lines of credit or to issue securities senior to our common and/or 
preferred shares, including preferred shares or debt securities which may be convertible into common shares or be accompanied 
by warrants to purchase common shares; or we may engage in transactions which involve a sale or other conveyance of 
properties to affiliated or unaffiliated entities. We may finance acquisitions and/or investments by using retained cash flow from 
operations and dispositions, by the issuance of additional equity securities or debt, by assuming outstanding mortgage debt on 
the acquired properties or by an exchange of properties. The proceeds from any of our financings may be used to pay 
distributions, to provide working capital, to refinance indebtedness or to finance acquisitions and/or investments and expansions 
of existing or new properties or businesses. We may from time to time re-evaluate and modify our financing policies in light of 
then current market conditions, relative availability and costs of debt and equity capital, the changing values of properties, 
growth and acquisition and/or investment opportunities and other factors, and we may increase or decrease our ratio of debt to 
total capitalization.

The Investment Policies and Financing Policies discussed above are established by our Board of Trustees and may be 
changed by our Board of Trustees at any time without shareholder approval. 
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Competition.    Investing in and operating real estate is a highly competitive business. We compete against other REITs, 
numerous financial institutions, individuals and public and private companies who are actively engaged in the real estate 
business. Also, we compete for tenants and investments based on a number of factors including pricing, underwriting criteria 
and reputation. Our ability to successfully compete is also impacted by economic and population trends, availability of 
acceptable acquisition and/or investment opportunities, our ability to negotiate beneficial leasing and investment terms, 
availability and cost of capital and new and existing laws and regulations. Some of our competitors are dominant in selected 
geographic markets, including in markets in which we operate. Some of our competitors have greater financial and other 
resources than we have. 

For additional information on competition and the risks associated with our business, please see "Risk Factors" in Part I, 
Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Environmental and Climate Change Matters.    Under various federal, state and local laws related to environmental, 
health and safety matters, owners, former owners, operators and tenants of real estate may be subject to liabilities resulting from 
the presence of hazardous substances, waste or petroleum products at, on, under, or emanating from such real estate, including 
costs for investigating and remediating or removing hazardous substances present at or migrating from such properties, 
liabilities for property damage or personal injuries, natural resource damages, and costs and losses arising from property use 
restrictions or diminution in value. We, or our tenants, also may incur liability for failing to comply with environmental, health 
and safety laws.  We do not believe that there are environmental conditions or issues at any of our properties that have had or 
will have a material adverse effect on us. However, no assurances can be given that conditions or issues are not present at our 
properties or that costs we may be required to incur in the future to remediate contamination or comply with environmental, 
health and safety laws will not have a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition.

We estimate the cost to remove hazardous substances or address environmental issues at some of our properties based in 
part on environmental surveys and analyses conducted on our properties. 

Some of our properties have been or may be impacted by releases of hazardous substances or petroleum products.  Such 
contamination may arise from a variety of sources, including historic uses of our properties for commercial or industrial 
purposes, spills of such materials at adjacent properties, or releases from tanks used on our properties to store petroleum or 
hazardous substances.  In addition, certain of our properties have been or may be on sites upon which or are adjacent to or near 
other properties upon which others, including former owners or tenants, have engaged, or may in the future engage, in activities 
that may release petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances.  Though we have reviewed these properties for 
potential environmental liabilities, we cannot assure that we have identified all potential environmental liabilities.

Certain of our buildings contain asbestos. We believe any asbestos in our buildings is contained in accordance with 
current regulations. If we remove the asbestos or renovate or demolish these properties, certain environmental regulations 
govern the manner in which the asbestos must be handled and removed, which could result in increased costs.

For more information regarding environmental matters and their possible adverse impact on us, see "Risk Factors—Risks 
Related to Our Business—We could incur significant costs and liabilities with respect to environmental matters” in Part I, 
Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

The current political debate about climate change has resulted in various treaties, laws and regulations which are intended 
to impact carbon emissions. We believe these laws may cause energy costs at our properties to increase, but we do not expect 
the direct impact of these increases to be material to our results of operations because the increased costs either would be the 
responsibility of our tenants directly or in large part may be passed through by us to our tenants as additional lease payments. 
Laws enacted to mitigate climate change may cause us to make material investments in our properties which could materially 
and adversely affect our financial condition. We evaluate ways to improve the energy efficiency at all of our properties. For 
more information regarding climate change matters and their possible adverse impact on us, see "Risk Factors—Risks Related 
to Our Business—We may be adversely affected by laws, regulations or other issues related to climate change" in Part I, 
Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Regulation FD Disclosures and Internet Website.    We use any of the following to comply with our disclosure obligations 
under Regulation FD: press releases, SEC filings, public conference calls, or our website.  We routinely post important 
information on our website at www.eqcre.com, including information that may be deemed to be material.  We encourage 
investors and others interested in the Company to monitor these distribution channels for material disclosures. 

Copies of our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the charters of our Audit, 
Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance committees are posted on our website and may be obtained free of 
charge by writing to our Secretary, Equity Commonwealth, Two North Riverside Plaza, Suite 2100, Chicago, Illinois 60606. 
We make available, free of charge, on our website, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, 
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Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after these forms are filed 
with, or furnished to, the SEC. Any shareholder or other interested party who desires to communicate with our Board of 
Trustees, or our non-management Trustees, individually or as a group, may do so by contacting our investor relations 
department through our website. Our website address is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as a textual reference 
only and the information on the website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

RISK FACTORS

Item 1A.    Risk Factors.

Before making an investment decision, you should carefully consider the following risk factors together with all of the 
other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Risks Related to Our Business

If we are unsuccessful in identifying and completing acquisitions and/or investments that we believe are strategically 
compelling, we may decide to sell, liquidate or otherwise exit our business in one or more transactions, which could 
materially and adversely impact us, including our stock price.

We continue to evaluate potential acquisition and investment opportunities, both in and outside the office sector. We are 
seeking to reinvest the significant cash balances we have accumulated, but we cannot provide any assurances that we will be 
successful in identifying acquisitions and/or investments that we believe are strategically compelling and completing such 
transactions on favorable terms or at all.  Our ability to identify and consummate acquisitions and/or investments is subject to 
significant risks, including the following:

• we may be unable to identify attractive acquisition and/or investment opportunities;
• we may be unable to make an acquisition and/or investment because of competition from other real estate investors,

such as private real estate companies, publicly traded REITs and institutional investment funds; and
• we may be unable to finance acquisitions and/or investments on favorable terms or at all.

If we are unable to successfully complete any acquisitions and/or investments, we may sell or liquidate the Company or 
otherwise exit our business through one or more transactions.  The Board of Trustees and management regularly evaluate the 
best course of action for the Company and have not set a timetable for making any decision regarding a sale, liquidation or exit 
of the Company, and the timing and manner of any such sale, liquidation or exit may be viewed unfavorably. If a sale, 
liquidation or other exit occurs, or does not occur in a time frame or manner viewed favorably, our stock price could be 
negatively impacted.

We may make acquisitions and/or investments that are viewed unfavorably by our investors, which could materially 
and adversely affect our stock price. 

We may make acquisitions and/or investments that are viewed unfavorably by our investors. We evaluate a range of 
investments in office and non-office property types, including portfolios of properties, individual properties and businesses, that 
vary in significance from relatively minor initial investments to transformative transactions. Our investors may view negatively 
any acquisition and/or investment that we make for a number of reasons, including because they believe we overvalued the 
acquired assets or businesses, they dislike the property type or types, quality or location of the acquired assets or businesses, 
they view the initial investment as small and therefore requiring substantially more time to complete the repositioning of our 
portfolio, or they disfavor the management or other personnel involved in any acquired businesses. If we make acquisitions and/
or investments that are viewed unfavorably by our investors, it could negatively affect our stock price. 

We may incur significant costs pursuing acquisition and/or investment opportunities that we may not consummate, 
which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We have incurred and may continue to incur costs such as diligence, legal, advisory and consulting fees in connection 
with pursuing acquisitions and/or investments that we ultimately may not consummate, which could adversely affect our results 
of operations.
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We may encounter unanticipated difficulties and costs relating to integrating any properties or businesses we acquire, 
particularly if outside of the office sector, which may have a material adverse effect on us.

We may encounter unanticipated difficulties and expenditures relating to any properties or businesses we acquire. For 
example, notwithstanding pre-investment due diligence, we could become subject to unknown liabilities without any or limited 
recourse against the seller, including without limitation tenant claims, vendor claims, indemnification and other claims, and we 
may incur higher than expected property operating and capital costs.  In addition, we may experience unexpected adverse 
market changes, including without limitation, re-leasing difficulties, occupancy and rental declines.  For these and other 
reasons, we may not successfully integrate any properties or businesses we acquire, particularly if outside of the office sector, 
and may not achieve the returns we expected, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

The ongoing COVID-19 outbreak may adversely affect us, including our growth prospects, results of operations and 
financial condition.

The COVID-19 outbreak has spread throughout the world and has significantly impacted the United States.  The outbreak 
has led governmental authorities to impose stay-at-home orders, quarantines, closures and travel restrictions.  This has led to 
severe business disruptions throughout the U.S. and the world, including a dramatic decline in economic activity, layoffs, 
downsizing and other similar factors.  If these disruptions continue, they could negatively impact our efforts to use our capital 
for acquisitions and/or investments.

The COVID-19 outbreak has adversely affected our results of operations in 2020, particularly our parking-related 
revenues, and may continue to do so. During the time period in which stay-at-home orders, quarantines, closures and travel 
restrictions have been imposed, our parking-related revenues have been adversely impacted, and we expect that may continue.  
For the three months and year ended December 31, 2020, parking-related revenues included in Other revenue represented 
approximately 4.3% and 6.1%, respectively, of our total revenues and decreased approximately 58.1% and 36.6% when 
compared to the comparable property portfolio for the three months and year ended December 31, 2019, respectively.  We have 
incurred and expect to continue to incur expenses related to our efforts to respond to the business disruption caused by the 
COVID-19 outbreak, which could impact our future results of operations.

The ongoing COVID-19 outbreak also may have a longer-term impact on demand for office space, which could adversely 
impact the value of our office properties.  To the extent that many workforces have adapted to the COVID-19 outbreak by 
working remotely, businesses and tenants may reassess their long-term demand for office space, which could adversely affect 
our ability to successfully re-lease our properties, the lease terms we are able to negotiate and the long-term value of our office 
properties.  For the above reasons, the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak may adversely affect us, including our growth prospects, 
results of operations and financial condition.

The failure of one or more of our tenants to pay rent due to the market disruption caused by the COVID-19 outbreak or 
for any other reason could materially and adversely affect us, including our results of operations.

Our performance depends on the financial condition of our tenants and their ability to fulfill their lease obligations. The 
COVID-19 outbreak has adversely affected some of our tenants’ businesses, and we cannot predict the impact on our results of 
operations. To the extent the COVID-19 outbreak continues, it could increase the risk of sustained business disruption in the 
markets in which our properties are located and exacerbate the risk that our tenants will not be able to meet their lease 
obligations.

In addition, we would be harmed if one or more of our major tenants, or a number of our smaller tenants, were to 
experience financial difficulties, including bankruptcy, insolvency or a general downturn of business.  As of December 31, 
2020, our portfolio was comprised of four properties, and the failure of one or more of our tenants to pay all or a substantial 
portion of their rent obligations could materially and adversely affect us. The inability of a major tenant, or a significant number 
of our smaller tenants, to pay rent, or the bankruptcy or insolvency of such tenants, would adversely affect income. If any of our 
major tenants, or a significant number of our smaller tenants, were to stop paying rent due to the market disruption caused by 
the COVID-19 outbreak or otherwise experience a downturn in their business, or a weakening of their financial condition, such 
an event could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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To the extent we make any dispositions, they may be on unfavorable terms, which could adversely affect us.

To the extent we seek to dispose of additional assets, they may be on unfavorable terms or we may not be able to complete 
sales in a timely manner, if at all, which could adversely affect us. We could incur significant costs and liabilities in connection 
with the dispositions of any properties, including through indemnification protection we provide to purchasers, which could 
adversely affect us.

We may make investments in assets that we do not control, including in joint ventures with third parties, which may 
subject us to various risks, including limited decision-making authority, reliance on our joint venture partners’ financial 
condition and the risk of disputes with our joint venture partners, which could adversely affect us. 

We may make investments in assets that we do not control, including joint venture partnerships, or other structures with 
third parties. We also may make investments in which we share responsibility for managing the affairs of a business, property 
or partnership. If we enter into any joint ventures or similar ownership structures, we may have limited decision-making 
authority. In addition, we may face the risk of disputes with our joint venture partners, including without limitation potential 
deadlocks in making major decisions and restrictions on our ability to exit the joint venture.  Any disputes that may arise 
between us and joint venture partners may result in litigation or arbitration. We also face risks associated with our joint venture 
partners’ financial condition, including, among other things, the risk of bankruptcy and/or failure to fund their share of required 
capital contributions.  As a result, we may be exposed to liabilities in excess of our share of the joint venture, which could 
jeopardize our REIT status. Joint venture partners may also have business interests or goals that are inconsistent with our 
business interests or goals and may be in a position to take actions contrary to our policies or objectives. We may, in specific 
circumstances, be liable for the actions of our joint venture partners.  We also may invest in public securities, unsecured debt 
and third-party mortgages which we do not control.  Any of the foregoing may have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

We may not decrease our general and administrative expenses proportionally with any further reduction in the size of 
our portfolio, which could adversely affect us, including our results of operations. 

Because our current strategy is to grow through acquisitions and/or investments, we maintain a level of staffing that we 
believe will enable us to effectively identify acquisition and/or investment opportunities and integrate any acquisitions and/or 
investments that we complete. As a result of this strategy, our general and administrative expenses may be higher than if we 
were not seeking growth through acquisitions and/or investments. If we are unable to grow through acquisitions and/or 
investments, and do not decrease our general and administrative expenses, our profitability and our results of operations could 
be adversely affected.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenues from four properties, and losses at any one of our properties could 
materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2020, we owned four office properties and, as a result, any events that negatively impact one or more 
of our properties, such as a natural disaster, could materially and adversely affect us, including our financial condition and 
results of operations. 

We may be unable to renew leases, re-lease properties as leases expire or lease vacant spaces on favorable terms, which 
could materially and adversely affect us.

As of December 31, 2020, leases representing 8.4% of our portfolio square footage and 7.4% of our annualized rental 
revenue will expire by the end of 2021 and leases representing 18.5% of our portfolio square footage and 19.1% of our 
annualized rental revenue will expire by the end of 2022.  For more information on how we calculate lease expirations, please 
see “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Property Operations.” We 
expect that many of our current tenants will decline to renew their leases when they expire in 2021, and other tenants may also 
decline for any reason to renew their leases.  We also cannot assure you that any leases that are renewed will have terms as 
economically favorable as the expiring lease terms.  If tenants do not renew their leases as they expire, we cannot provide any 
assurance that we will be able to find new tenants or that our properties will be re-leased at rental rates equal to or above the 
current rates in place.  To attract new tenants, we may be required to offer substantial rent abatements, tenant improvement 
allowances, early termination rights or below-market renewal options.  We may experience significant costs in connection with 
re-leasing our properties, which could materially and adversely affect us.  Our inability to renew leases, re-lease properties as 
leases expire or lease vacant space on favorable terms could materially and adversely affect us.
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Significant competition for tenants may reduce rents which could materially and adversely affect us.

We encounter significant competition for tenants at all of our properties. Some competing properties may be newer, better 
located or otherwise more attractive to tenants. Competing landlords may offer available space at lower rents or on other more 
attractive terms than we offer at our properties. This competition may affect our ability to attract and retain tenants and may 
reduce the rents we are able to charge, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Tenant demand may decline due to disruptions to the office sector, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Companies have been increasing their utilization of shared office spaces, co-working spaces, telecommuting, flexible 
work schedules, work-from-home alternatives and videoconferencing. To the extent these trends continue, tenant demand for 
our office space may be reduced, which could materially and adversely affect us. 

Our reliance on CBRE for third-party property management services may have a negative effect on our financial 
condition and results of operations.

We have engaged CBRE to provide property management services for our properties pursuant to a master property 
management agreement. The successful operation and management of our properties requires significant coordination between 
us and CBRE.  Additionally, CBRE can terminate the property management agreement, as a whole or as to any one or more of 
our properties, without cause upon providing three months’ notice, and we are permitted to terminate the property management 
agreement, as a whole or as to any one or more of our properties, without cause upon 60 days’ notice.  If we are unable to 
successfully coordinate with CBRE with respect to property management or the property management agreement with CBRE is 
terminated, in whole or in part, our operations could be disrupted, which may have a negative effect on our financial condition 
and results of operations.

Political instability and/or regulatory uncertainty could lead to higher interest rates, inflation, increased market 
volatility or recession, which could materially and adversely affect us. 

We may encounter disruptions in one or more of the markets in which we operate due to political instability and/or 
regulatory uncertainty. Political instability or regulatory uncertainty may result in higher interest rates, inflation, increased 
market volatility or recession, which could adversely affect our tenants. As a result, it could adversely affect our occupancy 
rates, rental rates, rent collections, lease renewals, pursuit of new tenants and the overall value of our office properties, which 
could materially and adversely affect us. 

The loss of one or more members of our senior leadership team, particularly our Chairman or our Chief Executive 
Officer, could materially and adversely affect us.

Our success, including our ability to complete any acquisitions and/or investments and manage our operations, depends to 
a significant degree upon the efforts of our senior leadership team, particularly our Chairman and our Chief Executive Officer. 
The loss of one or more members of our senior leadership team could materially and adversely affect us.

An increase in interest rates could increase our interest costs on any future debt we incur, which could adversely affect 
us. 

Interest rates currently remain substantially below historical long-term averages and are subject to change and may 
increase in the future. To the extent we incur any debt in the future, including in connection with any potential acquisitions or 
investments, and interest rates rise, our interest costs may increase, which could adversely affect our cash flow, ability to pay 
principal and interest on debt, cost of refinancing debt when it becomes due and our ability to make distributions to our 
shareholders. Additionally, if we choose to hedge any interest rate risk, we cannot assure that any such hedge will be effective 
or that our hedging counterparty will meet its obligations to us.  An increase in interest rates also could adversely affect the 
value of our properties to the extent that it decreases the amount buyers may be willing to pay for our properties.  As a result, 
any increases in future interest rates could adversely affect us.
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We can increase our leverage without any limits under our governing documents, which may be viewed unfavorably by 
our shareholders and could result in a decline in our stock price.

Our governing documents do not limit the amount of debt we may incur. In connection with potential acquisitions and/or 
investments, we may incur debt and significantly increase our leverage, which could reduce cash available for distributions and 
be viewed unfavorably by our shareholders, resulting in a decline in our stock price.  

Future impairment charges could materially and adversely affect us, including our results of operations in the period 
for which the charge occurs.

We periodically evaluate the recoverability of the carrying values of each of our office properties.  As part of this 
evaluation, we compare the current carrying value of the asset to the estimated undiscounted cash flows that are directly 
associated with the use and ultimate disposition of the asset. Our estimated cash flows are based on several key assumptions, 
including anticipated hold periods, assumptions regarding the residual value upon disposition, including the exit capitalization 
rate, rental rates, costs of tenant improvements, and leasing commissions. These key assumptions are subjective in nature and 
could differ materially from actual results. Additionally, circumstances may cause us to alter the hold period of an asset or asset 
group, which may result in an impairment loss and such loss could be material to the Company's financial condition or 
operating performance. To the extent that the carrying value of the asset exceeds the estimated undiscounted cash flows, an 
impairment loss is recognized equal to the excess of carrying value over fair value. Any future impairment could materially and 
adversely affect us, including our results of operations in the period in which the charge is taken.

Any failure to maintain effective internal controls could materially and adversely affect us.

Effective internal and disclosure controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent 
fraud and to operate successfully as a public company. Our internal controls over financial reporting and operations may not 
prevent or detect financial misstatements or loss of assets due to human error, management override of controls or fraud. 
Effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance regarding financial statement accuracy, public disclosures and 
safeguarding of assets. Any failure to maintain effective controls or timely effect any necessary improvement of our internal 
and disclosure controls could harm operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, which could affect our 
ability to remain listed with the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE. Ineffective internal and disclosure controls could also 
cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which would likely have a negative effect on the per 
share trading price of our securities.  Any failure to maintain effective internal controls could materially and adversely affect us. 

We may become subject to litigation which could materially and adversely affect us.

We may become subject to litigation, including, but not limited to, claims relating to our operations, corporate 
transactions, dispositions and acquisitions and/or investments and otherwise in the ordinary course of our business, that could 
have a material adverse effect on us.  Some of these claims could result in significant defense costs and potentially significant 
judgments against us, which may not be covered by insurance.  Protracted litigation also may divert management’s and our 
Trustees’ attention away from our business.  We cannot provide any assurance regarding the outcome of any claims that may 
arise in the future.  We also have agreed to indemnify our present and former trustees, officers and property managers in 
connection with litigation in which they are named or threatened to be named in their capacity as a party, which can be 
expensive.  Any fines, judgments or settlements that exceed our insurance coverage and any indemnification costs that we are 
required to pay could materially and adversely affect us.  

Any environmental contamination or other environmental liabilities could materially and adversely affect us.

Under various federal, state and local laws and regulations, as the current or former owners or operators of real estate, we 
may be liable for costs and damages resulting from the presence or release of hazardous substances, including waste or 
petroleum products, at, on, in, under or from such property, including costs for investigation, removal or remediation of such 
contamination and for natural resource damages arising from such contamination. Such laws often impose liability without 
regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such contamination, and the liability 
may be joint and several. In addition, the presence of contamination or the failure to remediate contamination at our properties 
may expose us to third-party liability for costs of remediation and/or personal or property damage, adversely affect our ability 
to lease, sell or rent such property, or adversely affect our ability to borrow using such property as collateral. Environmental 
laws may create liens on contaminated sites in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs to address such 
contamination. If contamination is discovered on our properties, environmental laws also may impose reporting requirements 
and/or restrictions on the manner in which those properties may be used or businesses may be operated, and these reporting 
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requirements and/or restrictions may require significant expenditures. Additionally, we may remain responsible for costs and 
liabilities arising from environmental issues related to representations and warranties we make in sales agreements for 
properties of which we have disposed.  We also may be liable for the costs of removal or remediation of hazardous substances 
or waste at disposal or treatment facilities if we arranged for disposal or treatment of hazardous substances at such facilities, 
whether or not we own or operate such facility.

Some of our current or sold properties have been or may be impacted by releases of hazardous substances or petroleum 
products.  Such contamination may arise from a variety of sources, including historic uses of our properties for commercial or 
industrial purposes, spills of such materials at adjacent properties, or releases from tanks used on our properties to store 
petroleum or hazardous substances.  In addition, certain of our current or sold properties are or were on sites upon which, or are 
or were adjacent to or near, other properties upon which others, including former owners or tenants, have engaged, or may in 
the future engage, in activities that may release petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances.

We, our tenants, and our properties are subject to various federal, state and local regulatory requirements related to 
environmental, health and safety matters, such as environmental laws, state and local fire and safety requirements, building 
codes and land use regulations. Failure to comply with these requirements could subject us or our tenants to governmental fines 
or private litigant damage awards.  In addition, compliance with these requirements, including new requirements or stricter 
interpretation of existing requirements, may require us or our tenants to incur significant expenditures.  We do not know 
whether existing requirements will change or whether future requirements, including any requirements that may emerge from 
pending or future climate change laws or regulations, will develop.  Environmental noncompliance liability also could impact a 
tenant’s ability to make rental payments to us, and our reputation could be negatively affected if we or our tenant’s violate 
environmental laws or regulations.

Buildings and other structures on properties that we currently own or operate or formerly owned or operated or those we 
acquire or operate in the future contain, may contain, or may have contained, asbestos-containing material, or ACM.  
Environmental, health and safety laws require that ACM be properly managed and maintained, and include requirements to 
undertake special precautions, such as removal or abatement, if ACM would be disturbed during maintenance, renovation, or 
demolition of a building, potentially resulting in substantial costs. Moreover, laws regarding ACM may impose fines and 
penalties on owners, employers and operators, and we may be subject to liability for releases of ACM into the air in our current 
or sold buildings and third parties may seek recovery from owners or operators of real property for personal injury associated 
with ACM.

When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials, mold growth may occur, particularly if the 
moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over a period of time. Some molds may produce airborne toxins or 
irritants. Indoor air quality issues also can stem from inadequate ventilation, chemical contamination from indoor or outdoor 
sources, and other biological contaminants such as pollen, viruses and bacteria. Indoor exposure to airborne toxins or irritants 
above certain levels can be alleged to cause a variety of adverse health effects and symptoms, including allergic or other 
reactions. The presence of mold or other airborne contaminants in our current or sold buildings could expose us to costs and 
liabilities to address these issues, including from third parties if property damage or personal injury occurs.  

We may be adversely affected by laws, regulations or other issues related to climate change.

If we become subject to laws or regulations related to climate change, our business, results of operations and financial 
condition could be impacted adversely. The federal government has enacted, and some of the states and localities in which we 
operate may enact certain climate change laws and regulations or have begun regulating carbon footprints and greenhouse gas 
emissions. Although these laws and regulations have not had any known material adverse effects on our business to date, they 
could result in substantial costs, including compliance costs, increased energy costs, retrofit costs and construction costs, 
including monitoring and reporting costs, and capital expenditures for environmental control facilities and other new 
equipment. Furthermore, our reputation could be negatively affected if we violate climate change laws or regulations. We 
cannot predict how future laws and regulations, or future interpretations of current laws and regulations, related to climate 
change will affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Lastly, the potential physical impacts of climate 
change on our operations are highly uncertain, and would be particular to the geographic circumstances in areas in which we 
operate. These may include changes in rainfall and storm patterns and intensities, water shortages, changing sea levels and 
changing temperatures. These impacts may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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We rely on information technology in our operations, and any material failure, inadequacy, interruption or security 
failure of that technology could harm our business.

We rely on information technology networks and systems, including the Internet, to process, transmit and store electronic 
information and to manage or support a variety of our business processes, including financial transactions and maintenance of 
records, which may include personal identifying information of tenants and lease data. We rely on commercially available 
systems, software, tools and monitoring to provide security for processing, transmitting and storing confidential tenant 
information, such as individually identifiable information relating to financial accounts. As our reliance on technology has 
increased, so have the risks posed to our systems, both internal and those we have outsourced to third party service providers. In 
addition, information security risks have generally increased in recent years due to the rise in new technologies and the 
increased sophistication and activities of perpetrators of cyber attacks. Although we have taken steps to protect the security of 
the data maintained in our information systems, it is possible that our security measures will not be able to prevent the systems' 
improper functioning, or the improper disclosure of personally identifiable information such as in the event of cyber attacks. 
Security breaches, including physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses, attacks by hackers, including ransom attacks, 
and similar breaches, can create system disruptions, shutdowns or unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. Any 
failure to maintain proper function, security and availability of our information systems could interrupt our operations, damage 
our reputation, subject us to liability claims or regulatory penalties and could materially and adversely affect us.

Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry

Real estate ownership creates risks and liabilities that could materially and adversely affect us.

Our economic performance and the value of our real estate assets, and consequently the value of our securities, are 
subject to risks inherently associated with real estate ownership, including:

• changes in supply of or demand for properties in areas in which we own buildings;
• the illiquid nature of real estate markets, which limits our ability to sell our assets rapidly or to respond to changing 

market conditions;
• the subjectivity of real estate valuations and changes in such valuations over time;
• property and casualty losses;
• the ongoing need for property maintenance and repair, and the need to make expenditures due to changes in 

governmental regulations, including the Americans with Disabilities Act;
• the inability of tenants to pay rent;
• competition from the development of properties in the markets in which we own property and the quality of such 

competition, such as the attractiveness of our properties as compared to our competitors' properties based on 
considerations such as convenience of location, rental rates, amenities and safety record; 

• civil unrest, acts of war, acts of God, including earthquakes, hurricanes, pandemics and other natural disasters (which 
may result in uninsured losses), and other factors beyond our control;

• legislative, tax and regulatory developments that may occur at the federal, state and local levels that have direct or 
indirect impact on the ownership, leasing and operation of our properties; and

• litigation incidental to our business.

If any of the foregoing events occur, our properties may generate less revenues than expected and that may not be 
sufficient to meet our operating expenses, including debt service and capital expenditures, which could have a material adverse 
effect on us. 

Potential losses may not be covered by our insurance policies, which could materially and adversely affect us.

We do not carry insurance for certain losses such as loss from riots, war or acts of God.   For other potential losses 
relating to acts of terrorism, hurricanes, earthquakes and floods, we currently carry insurance but our insurance policies contain 
limitations, including large deductibles, co-payments and general policy limits.  We cannot provide any assurances that any 
losses we incur resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic will be covered by our insurance policies, and any such coverage may 
be subject to limitations.  In the future, we may be unable to renew or duplicate our current insurance coverage at adequate 
levels or at reasonable prices or at all. In addition, insurance companies may no longer offer coverage against certain types of 
losses, such as losses due to terrorist acts, environmental liabilities, or other catastrophic events including hurricanes and floods, 
or, if offered, the expense of obtaining these types of insurance may not be justified.  If an uninsured loss or a loss in excess of 
our insured limits occurs, we could lose all or a portion of the capital we have invested in a property, as well as the anticipated 
future revenue from the property, but still remain obligated for certain financial obligations related to the property. If any of our 
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properties were to experience a catastrophic loss, it could seriously disrupt our operations, delay revenue and result in large 
expenses to repair or rebuild the property. If we experience losses that are ultimately uninsured, it could materially and 
adversely affect us.

Actual or threatened terrorist attacks, crimes, shootings, riots, other acts of violence or other incidents beyond our 
control may materially and adversely affect us. 

We have significant investments in large metropolitan markets that have been or may be in the future the targets of actual 
or threatened terrorism attacks, crimes, shootings, riots, other acts of violence or other incidents beyond our control. As a result, 
tenant demand for our office space could decline if some tenants in these markets choose to relocate their businesses to other 
markets or to lower-profile office buildings within these markets that may be perceived to be less likely targets of future 
incidents.  In addition, our office properties could be damaged, directly or indirectly, from future terrorist attacks or other acts 
of violence.  If a future attack or incident occurs, it could require us to close a property for some time, it could increase 
vacancies at our properties, it could necessitate leasing our properties on less favorable terms or both, or it could expose us to 
civil liability, all of which could materially and adversely affect us. 

Changes in accounting pronouncements may materially and adversely affect our financial statements, our tenants’ 
credit quality and our ability to secure long-term leases and renewal options.

Accounting policies and methods are fundamental to how we record and report our financial condition and results of 
operations. Uncertainties posed by various initiatives of accounting standard-setting by the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board and the Securities and Exchange Commission, which create and interpret applicable accounting standards for U.S. 
companies, may change the financial accounting and reporting standards or their interpretation and application of these 
standards that govern the preparation of our financial statements. These changes could have a material impact on our reported 
financial condition and results of operations. In some cases, we could be required to apply a new or revised standard 
retroactively, resulting in potentially material restatements of prior period financial statements. Similarly, these changes could 
have a material impact on our tenants’ reported financial condition or results of operations or could affect our tenants’ 
preferences regarding leasing real estate. 

Risks Related to Our Securities

We may not distribute any of our significant existing cash balances to shareholders, which could be viewed unfavorably 
by our shareholders and materially and adversely affect our share price.

Any distributions will be made at the discretion of our Board of Trustees and will depend upon various factors that our 
Board deems relevant. We currently hold a significant amount of cash and cash equivalents ($3.0 billion as of December 31, 
2020) which enables us to pursue acquisitions and/or investments and, as a result, we may elect not to distribute any of our 
existing cash to our shareholders. To the extent that our actual distributions are less than expected by investors, it could 
materially and adversely affect our share price. 

A substantial portion of our assets is currently held in cash, which is expected to earn a limited rate of return and is 
subject to a risk of loss, which could materially and adversely affect us, including limiting our growth.

As of December 31, 2020, we held approximately $3.0 billion of cash and cash equivalents. We currently invest the 
majority of our cash in bank deposits with investment grade financial institutions that are expected to earn a limited rate of 
return given current interest rates and the potential for their further decline, any of which could adversely affect our results of 
operations.  In addition, nearly all of our cash and bank deposits are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 
or the FDIC. Therefore, our cash and any bank deposits or other investments that we now hold or may acquire in the future may 
be subject to risks, including the risk of loss or of reduced value, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk.

Changes in market conditions could adversely affect the market price of our common shares. 

As with other publicly traded equity securities, our stock price depends on various market conditions that may change 
from time to time. Among the market conditions that may affect the value of our common shares are the following: 

• the extent of investor interest in our securities;
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• the general reputation of REITs and the attractiveness of our equity securities in comparison to other equity securities, 
including securities issued by other real estate-based companies; 

• our underlying asset value;
• national and global economic conditions;
• interest rates;
• changes in tax laws;
• our financial performance; and
• general stock and bond market conditions.

Changes in one or more of these market conditions could cause the market price of our common shares to decline.

The number of our common shares available for future issuance or sale could adversely affect the per share trading 
price of our common shares and may be dilutive to current shareholders.

Our declaration of trust authorizes our Board of Trustees to, among other things, issue additional shares of capital stock 
without stockholder approval. We cannot predict whether future issuances or sales of our common shares or the availability of 
shares for resale in the open market will decrease the per share trading price of our common shares. The issuance of substantial 
numbers of our common shares in the public market, including, but not limited to, in connection with any future transaction 
involving the Company or upon conversion of our Series D preferred shares, or the perception that such issuances might occur, 
could adversely affect the per share trading price of our common shares. In addition, we may issue our common shares or other 
long-term equity awards under the Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended. Any such future 
issuances may be dilutive to existing shareholders.

Conversion of our Series D preferred shares may dilute the ownership interests of existing shareholders.

The conversion of some or all of our Series D preferred shares may dilute the ownership interests of existing 
shareholders. 

Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

Ownership limitations and certain provisions in our declaration of trust and bylaws, as well as certain provisions of 
Maryland law, may deter, delay or prevent a change in our control or unsolicited acquisition proposals that otherwise 
could be viewed favorably by our shareholders.

Our declaration of trust and bylaws prohibit any shareholder other than certain persons who have been exempted by our 
Board of Trustees from owning (directly and by attribution) more than 9.8% of the number or value of shares of any class or 
series of our outstanding shares of beneficial interest, including our common shares. These provisions are intended to assist 
with our REIT compliance under the Code and otherwise promote our orderly governance. However, these provisions also 
inhibit acquisitions of a significant stake in us and may deter, delay or prevent a change in our control or unsolicited acquisition 
proposals that a shareholder may consider favorable. 

Additionally, provisions contained in our declaration of trust and bylaws or under Maryland law may have a similar 
impact, including, for example, provisions relating to: the authority of our Board of Trustees to fill most vacancies on our Board 
of Trustees; the fact that only the Chairman of the Board of Trustees, our Chief Executive Officer, our President, a majority of 
our Trustees or the holders of 10% of our common shares may call a special meeting of shareholders; and advance notice 
requirements for shareholder proposals.

Furthermore, our Board of Trustees has the authority to create and issue new classes or series of shares (including shares 
with voting rights and other rights and privileges that may deter a change in control) and issue additional common shares. The 
authorization and issuance of a new class of capital stock or additional common shares could have the effect of delaying or 
preventing someone from taking control of us, even if a change in control could be viewed favorably by our shareholders. 

Our Board of Trustees has the authority, without shareholder approval, to opt into certain provisions of Maryland law 
that could inhibit changes in control which otherwise could be viewed favorably by our shareholders.

We currently have opted out of certain provisions of Maryland law that may have the effect of inhibiting a third party 
from making a proposal to acquire us or of impeding a change of control under circumstances that otherwise could provide the 
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holders of our common shares with the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price of such shares, 
including: 

• “business combination moratorium/fair price” provisions that, subject to limitations, prohibit certain business 
combinations between us and an “interested shareholder” (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns 10% 
or more of the voting power of our shares or an affiliate thereof) for five years after the most recent date on which the 
shareholder becomes an interested shareholder, and thereafter imposes stringent fair price and super-majority 
shareholder voting requirements on these combinations; and

• “control share” provisions that provide that “control shares” of our company - defined as shares which, when 
aggregated with other shares controlled by the shareholder, entitle the shareholder to exercise one of three increasing 
ranges of voting power in electing trustees - acquired in a “control share acquisition” - defined as the direct or indirect 
acquisition of ownership or control of “control shares” from a party other than the issuer - have no voting rights except 
to the extent approved by our shareholders by the affirmative vote of at least two thirds of all the votes entitled to be 
cast on the matter, excluding all interested shares, and are subject to redemption in certain circumstances.

Our Board of Trustees has the authority, without shareholder approval, to opt into these provisions at any time, which 
could inhibit changes in control which otherwise could be viewed favorably by our shareholders.

Our Operating Trust’s organizational documents contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent unsolicited 
acquisitions of us or changes in our control that otherwise could be viewed favorably by our shareholders.

Our Operating Trust’s organizational documents contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent unsolicited 
acquisitions or changes in our control that might involve a premium price for the Company’s common shares. These provisions 
include, among others:

• redemption rights of qualifying parties;
• prohibition against our removal as the trustee of the Operating Trust with or without cause;
• transfer restrictions on the OP Units held directly or indirectly by us;
• our ability as trustee in some cases to amend the organizational documents of the Operating Trust without the consent 

of the other holders of OP Units;
• the right of the holders of OP Units to consent to mergers involving us under specified circumstances; and
• the right of the holders of OP Units to consent to our withdrawal as the sole trustee of the Operating Trust.
These provisions could discourage third parties from making proposals involving an unsolicited acquisition of us or 

change of our control that otherwise could be viewed favorably by our shareholders. 

As an UPREIT, we are a holding company with no direct operations and will rely on distributions received from our 
Operating Trust to make distributions to our shareholders.

We are a holding company and conduct all of our operations through our Operating Trust, and we rely on distributions 
from our Operating Trust to make any distributions to our shareholders and to meet any of our obligations.  The ability of our 
Operating Trust to make distributions to us will depend on its operating results and the ability of subsidiaries of our Operating 
Trust to make distributions to our Operating Trust, which could be subject to restrictions of any of its subsidiaries.  In addition, 
the claims of our shareholders will be structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and other obligations and 
any preferred equity of the Operating Trust and its subsidiaries, including in the case of any liquidation, bankruptcy or 
reorganization of our company.

We may complete acquisitions or investments through issuance of OP units in tax-deferred contribution transactions, 
which could result in shareholder dilution and restrict our ability to sell such assets, which could adversely affect us.

In the future, we may complete acquisitions or investments through tax-deferred contribution transactions in exchange for 
OP Units in the Operating Trust, which may result in shareholder dilution.  In addition, such transactions may reduce the 
amount of tax depreciation we could deduct over the tax lives of the acquired properties and may require that we agree to 
protect the contributors’ abilities to defer recognition of taxable gain through restrictions on our ability to dispose of the 
acquired properties and/or the allocation of partnership debt to the contributors to maintain their tax bases. These restrictions 
could limit our ability to sell or finance an asset at a time, or on terms, that otherwise would be favorable to us.
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Our shareholders’ recourse against our Trustees and officers is limited by the terms contained in our declaration of 
trust and bylaws, which may be viewed unfavorably by our shareholders.

Our declaration of trust limits the liability of our Trustees and officers to us and our shareholders for money damages to 
the maximum extent permitted under Maryland law. Under current Maryland law, our Trustees and officers will not have any 
liability to us and our shareholders for money damages other than liability resulting from:

• actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or
• active and deliberate dishonesty by the Trustee or officer that was established by a final judgment as being material to

the cause of action adjudicated.

Our declaration of trust and bylaws require us to indemnify any present or former Trustee or officer, to the maximum 
extent permitted by Maryland law, who is made or threatened to be made a party to a proceeding by reason of his or her service 
in that capacity. In addition, we may be obligated to pay or reimburse the expenses incurred by our present and former Trustees 
and officers without requiring a preliminary determination of their ultimate entitlement to indemnification. As a result, our 
shareholders’ recourse against our Trustees and officers is limited, which may be viewed unfavorably by our shareholders. 

Our bylaws provide that actions by our shareholders against us or against our Trustees and officers, including derivative 
and class actions, may be referred to binding arbitration proceedings. As a result, our shareholders would not be able to pursue 
litigation for these disputes in courts against us or our Trustees and officers if the disputes were referred to arbitration. In 
addition, the ability to collect attorneys' fees or other damages may be limited, which may discourage attorneys from agreeing 
to represent parties wishing to commence such a proceeding.  As a result, our shareholders’ recourse against our Trustees and 
officers is limited by the terms of our declaration of trust and bylaws, which may be viewed unfavorably by our shareholders.

Conflicts of interest could arise in the future between the interests of the Company’s shareholders and the interests of 
OP Unitholders, which may impede business decisions that could benefit our shareholders.

Conflicts of interest may exist or could arise in the future as a result of the relationships between the Company and its 
affiliates, on the one hand, and the Operating Trust or holders of OP Units, on the other. Our trustees and officers have duties to 
the Company and its shareholders under applicable Maryland law in connection with their management of the Company. At the 
same time, we, as trustee, have fiduciary duties to the Operating Trust and to the holders of all OP Units under Maryland law in 
connection with the management of the Operating Trust. The Company’s duties as trustee to the Operating Trust and its 
Unitholders may come into conflict with the duties of our trustees and officers to the Company and our shareholders. 

Additionally, the organizational documents of the Operating Trust expressly limit our liability by providing that the 
Company will not be liable for monetary or other damages or otherwise for losses sustained, liabilities incurred or benefits not 
derived in connection with such decisions unless the Company acted with willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or 
reckless disregard of duty, and the act or omission was material to the matter giving rise to the loss, liability or benefit not 
derived. Moreover, the organizational documents of the Operating Trust provide that the Operating Trust may indemnify, and 
pay or reimburse reasonable expenses to, the Company and the Company’s and the Operating Trust’s present or former 
unitholders, trustees, officers or agents and any other persons acting on behalf of the Company that the Company may designate 
from and against all claims and liabilities by reason of his, her or its service in such capacity. The Operating Trust has the 
power, with the approval of the Company, to provide such indemnification and advancement of expenses. The provisions of 
Maryland law that allow the fiduciary duties of a trustee to be modified by such organizational documents have not been 
resolved in a court of law, and we have not obtained an opinion of counsel covering the provisions set forth in the 
organizational documents of the Operating Trust that purport to waive or restrict our fiduciary duties that would be in effect 
were it not for such organizational documents.

We may change our operational, financing and investment policies without shareholder approval, and any future 
changes we may implement may be viewed unfavorably. 

Our Board of Trustees determines our operational, financing and investment policies and may amend or revise our 
policies, including our policies with respect to our intention to qualify for taxation as a REIT, acquisitions and/or investments, 
dispositions, growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and distributions, or approve transactions that deviate from these 
policies, without shareholder approval. Policy changes could adversely affect the market value of our common shares and our 
ability to make distributions to our shareholders. Further, our organizational documents do not limit the amount or percentage 
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of indebtedness, funded or otherwise, that we may incur. We could significantly increase our leverage, which could increase the 
risk of default on our obligations. In addition, we could change our investment policies, including how we allocate our 
resources across our portfolio or the types of assets in which we seek to invest and how we address our exposure to interest rate 
risk, real estate market fluctuations and liquidity risk.

Risks Related to Our Taxation as a REIT

If we do not qualify as a REIT or fail to remain qualified as a REIT, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax and 
potentially to additional state and local taxes which would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our 
shareholders.

We believe that we have been organized and have operated, and will continue to be organized and to operate, in a manner 
to allow us to qualify us to be taxed under the Code as a REIT. However, we cannot be certain that, upon review or audit, the 
IRS will agree with this conclusion. Furthermore, Congress and the IRS might make changes to the tax laws and regulations, 
and the courts might issue new rulings, that make it more difficult, or impossible, for us to remain qualified as a REIT.  We do 
not intend to request a ruling from the IRS as to our REIT qualification.  

As a REIT, we generally do not pay U.S. federal income tax on our net income that we distribute currently to our 
shareholders. However, actual qualification as a REIT under the Code depends on satisfying complex statutory requirements, 
for which there are only limited judicial and administrative interpretations. Many of the REIT requirements are highly technical 
and complex. Even a technical or inadvertent violation could jeopardize our REIT qualification. Our qualification as a REIT 
depends on our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder ownership and other requirements 
on a continuing basis. The determination that we are a REIT requires an analysis of various factual matters and circumstances 
that may not be totally within our control. 

If we fail to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and are unable to avail ourselves of certain savings 
provisions set forth in the Code, we likely would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates. As a taxable 
corporation, we would not be allowed to take a deduction for distributions to shareholders in computing our taxable income or 
pass through long-term capital gains to individual shareholders at favorable rates. We also could be subject to the U.S. federal 
alternative minimum tax (for taxable years beginning before December 31, 2017) and possibly increased state and local taxes. 
We would not be able to elect to be taxed as a REIT for four years following the year we first failed to qualify unless the IRS 
were to grant us relief under certain statutory provisions. If we failed to qualify as a REIT, we likely would have to pay 
significant income taxes, which likely would reduce our net earnings available for investment or distribution to our 
shareholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT, such failure may adversely affect our ability to raise capital and to service our 
debt. This likely would have a significant adverse effect on our earnings and the value of our securities. In addition, we would 
no longer be required to pay any distributions to shareholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes and are able to avail ourselves of one or more of the statutory savings provisions in order to maintain our REIT status, 
we would nevertheless be required to pay penalty taxes of $50,000 or more for each such failure.

Even if we qualify and remain qualified as a REIT, we may face other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow.

Even if we qualify and remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain U.S. federal, state and local 
taxes on our income and assets, including taxes on any undistributed income, excise taxes, state or local income, property and 
transfer taxes, such as mortgage recording taxes, and other taxes.  We are subject to U.S. federal and state income tax (and any 
applicable non-U.S. taxes) on the net income earned by our taxable REIT subsidiaries.  Moreover, if we have net income from 
“prohibited transactions,” for example in connection with the dispositions of property held primarily for sale to customers in the 
ordinary course of business, that income will be subject to a 100% tax. Finally, some state and local jurisdictions may impose 
taxes, such as franchise taxes, on some of our income even though as a REIT we are not subject to U.S. federal income tax on 
that income because not all states and localities treat REITs the same way they are treated for federal U.S. income tax purposes. 
To the extent that we and our affiliates are required to pay federal, state and local taxes, we will have less cash available for 
distributions to our shareholders.
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With less rental revenue, in order to comply with the 75% gross income test, we may be required to make qualifying 
investments in real property that satisfy this test, which may have more risk than investments in cash and cash 
equivalents.

One of the gross income requirements a REIT must satisfy each taxable year is that at least 75% of its gross income 
(excluding gross income from prohibited transactions and qualifying hedges) generally must be derived directly or indirectly 
from investments relating to real property or mortgages on real property.  As of December 31, 2020, we had equity interests in 
four office properties and cash and cash equivalents of $3.0 billion.  With a large cash balance and fewer income-producing real 
properties, we receive less rental revenue as a percentage of our total revenue.  In order to comply with the 75% gross income 
test for each taxable year, we may be required to invest more of our assets in qualifying investments in real property, including 
investments in assets that we do not control, rather than cash and cash equivalents.  Such investments may have more risks than 
investments in cash and cash equivalents.

The tax on “prohibited transactions” may limit our ability to engage in transactions which would be treated as sales for 
U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or 
other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of 
business. Our Trustees previously adopted an office repositioning strategy to own and acquire at a discount to replacement cost 
high-quality, multi-tenant assets in markets and sub-markets with favorable long-term supply and demand fundamentals. We 
believe that the dispositions related to the repositioning of our portfolio along with other dispositions that we have made or that 
we might make in the future will not be subject to the 100% penalty tax; however, because application of the prohibited 
transactions tax could be based on an analysis of all of the facts and circumstances, there can be no assurance that the gains on 
some of our prior real estate sales, or any future real estate sales, will not be subject to the 100% prohibited transaction tax.

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to forgo and/or liquidate otherwise attractive investment 
opportunities. 

To qualify as a REIT, we must ensure that we meet the REIT gross income tests annually and that at the end of each 
calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash items, government securities and qualified REIT 
real estate assets. The remainder of our investment in securities (other than government securities and qualified real estate 
assets) generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the 
total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer. In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of our assets 
(other than government securities and qualified real estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, no more than 
20% of the value of our total securities can be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries, or TRS, and 
no more than 25% of the value of our assets can be represented by debt instruments issued by “publicly offered REITs.”  If we 
fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the 
end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering 
adverse tax consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate from our portfolio, or contribute to a TRS, otherwise 
attractive investments in order to maintain our qualification as a REIT. These actions could have the effect of reducing our 
income, increasing our income tax liability, and reducing amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, we 
may be required to make distributions to shareholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available 
for distribution, and may be unable to pursue investments (or, in some cases, forego the sale of such investments) that would be 
otherwise advantageous to us in order to satisfy the source-of-income or asset-diversification requirements for qualifying as a 
REIT. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to make, and, in certain cases, maintain ownership 
of certain attractive investments.  

REIT distribution requirements could adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan.

We generally must distribute annually at least 90% of our “REIT taxable income” (determined before the deduction for 
dividends paid and excluding net capital gains) in order for U.S. federal corporate income tax not to apply to earnings that we 
distribute. To the extent that we satisfy this distribution requirement, but distribute less than 100% of our taxable income, we 
will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% 
nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we pay out to our shareholders in a calendar year is less than a minimum 
amount specified under U.S. federal tax laws. We intend to make distributions to our shareholders to comply with the REIT 
requirements of the Code and avoid entity-level taxes.
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From time to time, we may generate taxable income greater than our income for financial reporting purposes prepared in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, or differences in timing between the recognition of 
taxable income and the actual receipt of cash or between the deduction of expenses and actual payment of those expenses may 
occur. If we do not have other funds available in these situations we could be required to (i) borrow funds on unfavorable terms, 
(ii) sell investments at disadvantageous prices, (iii) distribute amounts that would otherwise be invested in future acquisitions 
and/or investments, or (iv) make a taxable distribution of our common shares as part of a distribution in which shareholders 
may elect to receive our common shares or (subject to a limit measured as a percentage of the total distribution) cash to make 
distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out enough of our taxable income to satisfy the REIT distribution requirement. These 
alternatives could increase our costs or reduce our shareholders' equity. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may 
hinder our ability to grow, which could adversely affect the value of our shares.

Our transactions with our TRSs will cause us to be subject to a 100% penalty tax on certain income or deductions if 
those transactions are not conducted on arm’s length terms. 

A REIT may own up to 100% of the stock of one or more TRS. A TRS may hold assets and earn income that would not 
be qualifying assets or income if held or earned directly by a REIT. Both the subsidiary and the REIT must jointly elect to treat 
the subsidiary as a TRS. A corporation of which a TRS directly or indirectly owns more than 35% of the voting power or value 
of the stock will automatically be treated as a TRS. Overall, no more than 20% of the value of a REIT’s assets may consist of 
stock or securities of one or more TRS. The tax rules also impose a 100% excise tax on certain transactions between a TRS and 
its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm’s length basis. 

TRSs that we have formed are subject to and will continue to be subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax on their 
taxable income, and their after-tax net income is available for distribution to us but is not required to be distributed by such 
TRSs to us. We believe that the aggregate value of the stock and securities of our TRSs has been and we anticipate that the 
aggregate value will continue to be less than 20% of the value of our total assets (including our TRS stock and securities). 
Furthermore, we have monitored and will continue to monitor the value of our respective investments in our TRSs for the 
purpose of ensuring compliance with TRS ownership limitations. In addition, we have scrutinized and will continue to 
scrutinize all of our transactions with our TRSs to ensure that they are entered into on arm’s length terms to avoid incurring the 
100% excise tax described above. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to comply with the TRS limitation 
discussed above or to avoid application of the 100% excise tax discussed above. 

There is a risk of changes in the tax law applicable to REITs.

The IRS, the United States Treasury Department and Congress frequently review U.S. federal income tax legislation, 
regulations and other guidance. We cannot predict whether, when or to what extent new federal tax laws, regulations, 
interpretations or rulings will be adopted. Any legislative action may prospectively or retroactively modify our tax treatment 
and, therefore, may adversely affect taxation of us and/or our shareholders.

Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 2.    Properties.

General.    At December 31, 2020, we had real estate investments totaling approximately $401.7 million in four properties 
(eight buildings), that were leased to 109 tenants. We account for the operations of all our properties in one reporting segment.  
At December 31, 2020, we owned the following real estate (dollars in thousands): 

Property State
Number of
Buildings

Undepreciated
Carrying

Value

Depreciated
Carrying

Value

Annualized
Rental

Revenue(1)

1225 Seventeenth Street (17th Street Plaza) CO 1 $ 171,214 $ 124,956 $ 27,301 
1250 H Street, NW DC 1  75,892  39,354  9,092 
206 East 9th Street (Capitol Tower) TX 1  52,468  42,360  8,381 
Bridgepoint Square TX 5  102,136  51,721  12,724 
Total 8 $ 401,710 $ 258,391 $ 57,498 

(1) Annualized rental revenue is annualized contractual rents from our tenants pursuant to leases which have commenced as 
of December 31, 2020, plus estimated recurring expense reimbursements; excludes lease value amortization, straight-line 
rent adjustments, abated (free) rent periods and parking revenue.  We calculate annualized rental revenue by aggregating 
the recurring billings outlined above for the most recent month during the quarter reported, adding abated rent, and 
multiplying the sum by 12 to provide an estimation of near-term potentially-recurring revenues.  Annualized rental 
revenue is a forward-looking non-GAAP measure.  Annualized rental revenue cannot be reconciled to a comparable 
GAAP measure without unreasonable efforts, primarily due to the fact that it is calculated from the billings of tenants in 
the most recent month at the most recent rental rates during the quarter reported, whereas historical GAAP measures 
include billings from a potentially different group of tenants over multiple months at potentially different rental rates.

At December 31, 2020, we did not have any properties encumbered by mortgage notes.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 
 

We are or may become a party to various legal proceedings. We are not currently involved in any litigation nor, to our 
knowledge, is any litigation threatened against us where the outcome would, in our judgment based on information currently 
available to us, have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5.    Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities.

Our common shares are traded on the NYSE (symbol: EQC).  As of February 5, 2021, there were 1,068 shareholders of 
record of our common shares. However, because many of our common shares are held by brokers and other institutions on 
behalf of shareholders, we believe that there are considerably more beneficial holders of our common shares than record 
holders.

Distributions

Under our governing documents and Maryland law, distributions to our shareholders are to be authorized and declared by 
our Board of Trustees. 

On September 16, 2020 our Board of Trustees declared a special, one-time cash distribution of $3.50 per common share/
unit to shareholders/unitholders of record on October 1, 2020. On October 20, 2020, we paid this distribution to such 
shareholders/unitholders in the aggregate amount of $426.7 million.

On September 24, 2019, our Board of Trustees declared a special, one-time cash distribution of $3.50 per common share/
unit to shareholders/unitholders of record on October 7, 2019.  On October 23, 2019, we paid this distribution to such 
shareholders/unitholders in the aggregate amount of $427.7 million. In February 2020, the number of earned awards for certain 
recipients of the Company’s restricted stock units and market-based LTIP Units was determined.  Pursuant to the terms of such 
awards, we paid a one-time catch-up cash distribution to these recipients in the aggregate amount of $2.9 million for 
distributions to common shareholders and unitholders declared by our Board of Trustees during such awards' performance 
measurement period.

On September 26, 2018, our Board of Trustees declared a special, one-time cash distribution of $2.50 per common share/
unit to shareholders/unitholders of record on October 9, 2018.  On October 23, 2018, we paid this distribution to such 
shareholders/unitholders in the aggregate amount of $304.7 million. In February 2019, the number of earned awards for certain 
recipients of the Company's restricted stock units was determined.  Pursuant to the terms of such awards, we paid a one-time 
catch-up cash distribution to these recipients in the aggregate amount of $1.2 million for distributions to common shareholders 
and unitholders declared by our Board of Trustees during such awards' performance measurement period.

The timing and amount of future distributions is determined at the discretion of our Board of Trustees and will depend 
upon various factors that our Board of Trustees deems relevant, including, but not limited to, our results of operations, our 
financial condition, debt and equity capital available to us, our expectations of our future capital requirements and operating 
performance, including our FFO, our Normalized FFO, and our cash available for distribution, restrictive covenants in our 
financial or other contractual arrangements (including those in our senior notes indenture), tax law requirements to qualify for 
taxation as and to remain a REIT, restrictions under Maryland law and our expected needs and availability of cash to pay our 
obligations and fund acquisitions. If our taxable income exceeds our net operating loss carryforwards, we will be required to 
make a distribution of at least 90% of our taxable income to maintain our qualification as a REIT. Whether we will make a 
distribution in 2021 and the timing of any such distribution remains uncertain. There can be no assurance that we will pay 
distributions in the future.

Issuer Repurchases

Common Share Repurchase Program 

On March 13, 2019, our Board of Trustees authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0 million of our outstanding common 
shares over the twelve month period following the date of authorization. In March 2020, this share repurchase authorization, of 
which $129.2 million was not utilized, expired.  On March 10, 2020, our Board of Trustees authorized the repurchase of up to 
an additional $150.0 million of our outstanding common shares over the twelve months following the date of authorization, 
none of which has been utilized.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we repurchased and retired 711,000 of our common shares under the March 
2019 authorization at a weighted average price of $29.31 per share, for a total investment of $20.8 million. The share 
repurchases were completed prior to the special, one-time cash distribution of $3.50 per common share/unit to shareholders/
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unitholders paid on October 20, 2020.  The $150.0 million of remaining authorization available under our share repurchase 
program as of December 31, 2020 is scheduled to expire on March 10, 2021.

Surrender of Common Shares for Tax Withholding

During the year ended December 31, 2020, certain of our employees surrendered common shares owned by them to 
satisfy their statutory tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted common shares and restricted 
stock units.  

The following table summarizes all of these repurchases during the three months ended December 31, 2020:

Period

Total Number of 
Shares 

Purchased(1)
Average Price Paid 

per Share

Total Number of 
Shares Purchased as 

Part of Publicly 
Announced Plans or 

Programs 

Maximum Number or 
Approximate Dollar Value 
of Shares that May Yet be 

Purchased Under the 
Plans or Programs

October 2020  76 $ 26.60 N/A N/A
November 2020  — $ — N/A N/A
December 2020  — $ — N/A N/A
Total  76 $ 26.60 

(1)  The number of shares repurchased represents common shares surrendered by a former employee to satisfy their statutory 
minimum federal and state tax obligations associated with the vesting of restricted common shares and restricted stock 
units of beneficial interest. With respect to these shares, the price paid per share is based on the closing price of our 
common shares as of the date of the determination of the statutory minimum federal and state tax obligations. 

 
Unregistered Sales of Securities

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Performance Graph

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act that 
might incorporate SEC filings, in whole or in part, the following performance graph will not be incorporated by reference into 
any such filings.

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return of our common shares for the period from 
December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2020, to the Nareit All REITs Index, Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (S&P 500 Index), and 
to the Nareit Equity Office Index over the same period. The graph assumes an investment of $100.00 in our common shares and 
each index and the reinvestment of all distributions. The shareholder return shown on the graph below is not indicative of future 
performance.
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Period Ended
Index 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2020
Equity Commonwealth $ 100.00 $ 109.05 $ 110.03 $ 117.47 $ 142.91 $ 134.35 
Nareit All REITs Index $ 100.00 $ 109.28 $ 119.41 $ 114.51 $ 146.66 $ 138.06 
S&P 500 Index $ 100.00 $ 111.96 $ 136.40 $ 130.42 $ 171.49 $ 203.04 
Nareit Equity Office Index $ 100.00 $ 113.17 $ 119.11 $ 101.84 $ 133.83 $ 109.16 

Source: S&P Global Market Intelligence

Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

OBJECTIVE

The objective of this section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is to provide a discussion and analysis, from 
management’s perspective, of the material information necessary to assess our financial condition, results of operations, 
liquidity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020.  In addition, we have also included a discussion of any material 
events or uncertainties that we believe are reasonably likely to cause our 2020 financial results to not be indicative of future 
results.  We also discuss potential business opportunities that we may pursue and the uncertainties associated with such pursuit.  
We have included an executive summary to identify what we believe are the more important items that affected our 2020 
financial results, including both our business activities as well as events outside of our control.  In addition to the executive 
summary, we encourage you to read the entire discussion in this section of our material financial and statistical data together 
with our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes that are included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.  The full discussion analyzes in detail our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and cash 
flows, including comparisons of our 2020 and 2019 financial results. Discussions of 2018 items and year-to-year comparisons 
between 2019 and 2018 that are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K can be found in “Management's Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
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OVERVIEW
 

We are an internally managed and self-advised REIT primarily engaged in the ownership and operation of office 
properties in the United States. We were formed in 1986 under Maryland law.  The Company operates as what is commonly 
referred to as an umbrella partnership real estate investment trust, or UPREIT, conducting substantially all of its activities 
through the Operating Trust.  As of December 31, 2020, the Company beneficially owned 99.80% of the outstanding OP Units.

At December 31, 2020, our portfolio consisted of four properties (eight buildings), with a combined 1.5 million square 
feet.  As of December 31, 2020, we had $3.0 billion of cash and cash equivalents.  

We use leasing and occupancy metrics to evaluate the performance of our properties.  We believe these metrics provide 
useful information to investors because they reflect the leasing activity and vacant space at the properties and may facilitate 
comparisons of our leasing and occupancy metrics with other REITs and real estate companies.

As of December 31, 2020, our overall portfolio was 85.7% leased. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we entered 
into leases, excluding leasing activity for assets during the quarter in which the asset was sold or classified as held for sale, for 
142,000 square feet, including lease renewals for 76,000 square feet and new leases for 66,000 square feet.  Leases entered into 
during the year ended December 31, 2020, including both lease renewals and new leases, had weighted average cash rental rates 
that were approximately 1.4% lower than prior rental rates for the same space and weighted average GAAP rental rates that 
were approximately 11.9% higher than prior rental rates for the same space.  The change in GAAP rents is different than the 
change in cash rents due to differences in the amount of rent abatements, the magnitude and timing of contractual rent increases 
over the lease term, and the length of term for the newly executed leases compared to the prior leases. Percent change in GAAP 
and cash rents is a comparison of current rent, including estimated tenant expense reimbursements, if any, to the rent, including 
actual/projected tenant expense reimbursements, if any, last received for the same space on a GAAP and cash basis, 
respectively.  Cash rent during the reporting period is calculated before deducting any initial period free rent.  

 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we sold three properties (four buildings) with a combined 1.0 million square 

feet for an aggregate gross sales price of $756.5 million. During the year ended December 31, 2019, we sold three properties 
(six buildings) with a combined 2.7 million square feet for an aggregate gross sale price of $812.1 million. For more 
information regarding these transactions, see Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in 
Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

On September 16, 2020 our Board of Trustees declared a special, one-time cash distribution of $3.50 per common share/
unit to shareholders/unitholders of record on October 1, 2020. On October 20, 2020, we paid this distribution to such 
shareholders/unitholders in the aggregate amount of $426.7 million.

We have engaged CBRE, Inc., (CBRE) to provide property management services.  We pay CBRE a property-by-property 
management fee and may engage CBRE from time-to-time to perform project management services, such as coordinating and 
overseeing the completion of tenant improvements and other capital projects at the properties.  We reimburse CBRE for certain 
expenses incurred in the performance of its duties, including certain personnel and equipment costs. For the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, we incurred expenses of $3.2 million and $5.2 million, respectively, related to our property 
management agreement with CBRE, for property management fees, typically calculated as a percentage of the properties' 
revenues, and salary and benefits reimbursements for property personnel, such as property managers, engineers and 
maintenance staff.  As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had amounts payable pursuant to these services of $0.3 million and 
$0.6 million, respectively.

In connection with repositioning our portfolio, we may sell additional properties, depending on market conditions.  With 
the progress we have made executing dispositions, and the strength and liquidity of our balance sheet, we have shifted our 
primary focus to capital allocation.  We may use our capital for acquisitions and/or investments in new properties or businesses, 
repurchase shares or make distributions that further our long-term strategic goals. 

With respect to acquisitions and/or investments, we are evaluating opportunities to invest capital in high-quality assets or 
businesses in favorable markets that offer a compelling risk-reward profile.  The set of opportunities that we pursue may 
include acquisitions and/or investments in a range of property types.  

We may be unable to identify suitable investment opportunities.  If we do not redeploy capital, we will strive to achieve a 
sale, liquidation or otherwise exit our business in one or more transactions in a manner that optimizes shareholder value.  We 
are unable to predict if or when we will make a determination to sell, liquidate or otherwise exit our business.  
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Our business may be impacted by the evolving COVID-19 outbreak.  Since first surfacing, the outbreak has spread 
throughout the world and has significantly impacted the United States.  The pandemic has led to severe business disruptions, 
including a dramatic decline in economic activity generally. The duration of the business disruption is unknown at this time.  
The vast majority of our employees and our tenants' employees are currently working at least in part remotely and may be 
subject to government-imposed restrictions.  Due to the uncertainty created by the pandemic, the Company has experienced a 
significant reduction in leasing interest and activity when compared to pre-pandemic levels. For the three months ended 
December 31, 2020, in our comparable property portfolio, we collected 97% of contractual rents, including 1% from the 
application of security deposits and letters of credit. For January, to date, we have collected 96% of contractual rents.  We 
currently are not able to estimate the full impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on our business.

Property Operations
 

Leased occupancy data for 2020 and 2019 is as follows (square feet in thousands): 
All Properties Comparable Properties(1)

As of December 31, As of December 31,

2020 2019 2020 2019

Total properties  4  7  4  4 
Total square feet  1,507  2,469  1,507  1,507 
Percent leased(2)  85.7 %  94.7 %  85.7 %  91.5 %

(1) Based on properties owned continuously from January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2020, and excludes properties sold. 
(2) Percent leased is the percent of space subject to signed leases.  Percent leased is disclosed to quantify the ratio of leased 

square feet to rentable square feet and we believe provides useful information as to the proportion of rentable square feet 
subject to a lease.

 
The weighted average lease term based on square feet for leases entered into during the year ended December 31, 2020 

was 7.3 years.  Commitments made for leasing expenditures and concessions, such as tenant improvements and leasing 
commissions, for leases entered into during the year ended December 31, 2020, excluding leasing activity for assets during the 
quarter in which the asset was sold or classified as held for sale, totaled $9.8 million, or $68.83 per square foot on average 
(approximately $9.37 per square foot per year of the lease term).
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As of December 31, 2020, approximately 8.4% of our leased square feet and 7.4% of our annualized rental revenue, 
determined as set forth below, are included in leases scheduled to expire through December 31, 2021.  Renewal and new leases 
and rental rates at which available space may be relet in the future will depend on prevailing market conditions at the times 
these leases are negotiated.  We believe that the in-place cash rents for leases expiring in 2021, that have not been backfilled, 
are below market. Lease expirations by year, as of December 31, 2020, are as follows (square feet and dollars in thousands): 

Year

Number
of Tenants 
Expiring(1)

Leased 
Square
 Feet 

Expiring(2)

% of 
Leased 

Square Feet 
Expiring(2)

Cumulative
% of Leased 

Square
Feet 

Expiring(2)

Annualized 
Rental 

Revenue 
Expiring(3)

% of
Annualized 

Rental
Revenue 
Expiring

Cumulative
% of

Annualized 
Rental 

Revenue 
Expiring

2021  20  109  8.4 %  8.4 % $ 4,264  7.4 %  7.4 %
2022  13  130  10.1 %  18.5 %  6,748  11.7 %  19.1 %
2023  18  195  15.1 %  33.6 %  9,296  16.2 %  35.3 %
2024  15  207  16.0 %  49.6 %  9,224  16.0 %  51.3 %
2025  11  145  11.2 %  60.8 %  6,049  10.5 %  61.8 %
2026  8  80  6.2 %  67.0 %  3,659  6.4 %  68.2 %
2027  7  103  8.0 %  75.0 %  4,377  7.6 %  75.8 %
2028  4  63  4.9 %  79.9 %  2,971  5.2 %  81.0 %
2029  6  139  10.8 %  90.7 %  5,669  9.9 %  90.9 %
2030  3  58  4.5 %  95.2 %  2,468  4.3 %  95.2 %
Thereafter  4  62  4.8 %  100.0 %  2,773  4.8 %  100.0 %

 109  1,291  100.0 % $ 57,498  100.0 %

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years):  4.7  4.5 

(1) Tenants with leases expiring in multiple years are counted in each year they expire.
(2) Leased Square Feet as of December 31, 2020 includes space subject to leases that have commenced for revenue recognition 

purposes in accordance with GAAP, space being fitted out for occupancy pursuant to existing leases, and space which is 
leased but is not occupied or is being offered for sublease by tenants.  The Leased Square Feet Expiring corresponds to the 
latest-expiring signed lease for a given suite.  Thus, backfilled suites expire in the year stipulated by the new lease.    

(3) Annualized rental revenue is annualized contractual rents from our tenants pursuant to leases which have commenced as of 
December 31, 2020, plus estimated recurring expense reimbursements; excludes lease value amortization, straight-line rent 
adjustments, abated (free) rent periods and parking revenue.  We calculate annualized rental revenue by aggregating the 
recurring billings outlined above for the most recent month during the quarter reported, adding abated rent, and multiplying 
the sum by 12 to provide an estimation of near-term potentially-recurring revenues.  Annualized rental revenue is a 
forward-looking non-GAAP measure.  Annualized rental revenue cannot be reconciled to a comparable GAAP measure 
without unreasonable efforts, primarily due to the fact that it is calculated from the billings of tenants in the most recent 
month at the most recent rental rates during the quarter reported, whereas historical GAAP measures include billings from 
a potentially different group of tenants over multiple months at potentially different rental rates. 
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The principal source of funds for our operations is rents from tenants at our properties.  Rents are generally received from 
our tenants monthly in advance.  As of December 31, 2020, tenants representing 2.5% or more of our total annualized rental 
revenue were as follows (square feet in thousands):

Tenant Square Feet(1)

% of Total 
Leased Square 

Feet(1)

% of 
Annualized 

Rental 
Revenue(2)

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Lease Term

1. Equinor Energy Services, Inc.  80  6.2 %  5.9 % 3.0
2. KPMG, LLP  71  5.5 %  5.1 % 8.4
3. Crowdstrike, Inc.  36  2.8 %  3.6 % 3.8
4. CBRE, Inc.  40  3.1 %  3.4 % 7.3
5. Salesforce.com, Inc.(3)  65  5.0 %  3.4 % 4.9
6. International Dairy Foods Association(4)  23  1.8 %  2.6 % 5.5
7. Alden Torch Financial, LLC  34  2.6 %  2.6 % 6.2
8. Kazoo, Inc.  26  2.0 %  2.6 % 1.1

Total  375  29.0 %  29.2 % 5.2

(1) Total Leased Square Feet as of December 31, 2020 includes space subject to leases that have commenced, space being 
fitted out for occupancy pursuant to existing leases, and space which is leased but is not occupied or is being offered for 
sublease by tenants.  

(2) Annualized rental revenue is annualized contractual rents from our tenants pursuant to leases which have commenced as of 
December 31, 2020, plus estimated recurring expense reimbursements; excludes lease value amortization, straight-line rent 
adjustments, abated (free) rent periods and parking revenue.  We calculate annualized rental revenue by aggregating the 
recurring billings outlined above for the most recent month during the quarter reported, adding abated rent, and multiplying 
the sum by 12 to provide an estimation of near-term potentially-recurring revenues.  Annualized rental revenue is a 
forward-looking non-GAAP measure.  Annualized rental revenue cannot be reconciled to a comparable GAAP measure 
without unreasonable efforts, primarily due to the fact that it is calculated from the billings of tenants in the most recent 
month at the most recent rental rates during the quarter reported, whereas historical GAAP measures include billings from 
a potentially different group of tenants over multiple months at potentially different rental rates.

(3) Our lease with Salesforce.com, Inc. has partially commenced.  Approximately 44,000 square feet commenced as of 
December 31, 2020, and the remaining 21,000 square feet are expected to commence in the second half of 2021.

(4) Approximately 10,000 square feet of International Dairy Foods Association's space expire in 2034.  The remaining 13,000 
square feet expire (including the expiration dates for backfilling tenants) in the following years:  5,900 square feet in 2021, 
3,100 square feet in 2022, and 4,100 square feet in 2027.

Financing Activities

As of July 5, 2020, we repaid at par $25.1 million of mortgage debt at 206 East 9th Street and recognized a gain on early 
extinguishment of debt of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from the write off of an unamortized premium, 
net of prepayment fees and the write off of unamortized deferred financing fees.   

For more information regarding our financing sources and activities, please see the section captioned “Liquidity and 
Capital Resources—Our Investment and Financing Liquidity and Resources” below.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2019 

Comparable Properties Results(1)
Other Properties 

Results(2) Consolidated Results
Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 $ Change % Change 2020 2019 2020 2019 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)

Rental revenue $ 57,387 $ 58,109  (722)  (1.2) % $ 4,747 $ 58,760 $ 62,134 $ 116,869 $ (54,735)  (46.8) %
Other revenue  3,833  6,042  (2,209)  (36.6) %  311  4,939  4,144  10,981  (6,837)  (62.3) %
Operating expenses  (26,854)  (26,359)  (495)  1.9 %  (2,004)  (20,059)  (28,858)  (46,418)  17,560  (37.8) %
Net operating income(3) $ 34,366 $ 37,792 $ (3,426)  (9.1) % $ 3,054 $ 43,640  37,420  81,432  (44,012)  (54.0) %
Other expenses:

Depreciation and amortization  19,329  28,122  (8,793)  (31.3) %
General and administrative  33,233  38,442  (5,209)  (13.6) %

Total other expenses  52,562  66,564  (14,002)  (21.0) %
Interest and other income, net  21,228  72,392  (51,164)  (70.7) %
Interest expense  (620)  (8,908)  8,288  (93.0) %
Gain (loss) on early extinguishment of debt  131  (6,374)  6,505  (102.1) %
Gain on sale of properties, net  446,744  422,172  24,572  5.8 %
Income before income taxes  452,341  494,150  (41,809)  (8.5) %
Income tax expense  (248)  (1,284)  1,036  (80.7) %
Net income  452,093  492,866  (40,773)  (8.3) %
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest  (799)  (186)  (613)  329.6 %
Net income attributable to Equity Commonwealth  451,294  492,680  (41,386)  (8.4) %
Preferred distributions  (7,988)  (7,988)  —  — %
Net income attributable to Equity Commonwealth 

common shareholders $ 443,306 $ 484,692 $ (41,386)  (8.5) %

(1) Comparable properties consist of four properties we owned continuously from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2020.

(2) Other properties consist of properties sold.

(3) We define net operating income, or NOI, as shown above, as income from our real estate including lease termination fees 
received from tenants less our property operating expenses.  NOI excludes amortization of capitalized tenant improvement 
costs and leasing commissions and corporate level expenses.  For a discussion of why we consider NOI to be an 
appropriate supplemental measure to net income as well as a reconciliation of NOI to net income, the most directly 
comparable financial measure under GAAP reported on our consolidated financial statements, please see "Liquidity and 
Capital Resources - Property Net Operating Income (NOI)."

Rental revenue.  Rental revenue decreased $54.7 million, or 46.8%, in the 2020 period, compared to the 2019 period, primarily 
due to the properties sold in 2020 and 2019.  Rental revenue at the comparable properties decreased $0.7 million, or 1.2%, in 
the 2020 period, compared to the 2019 period, primarily due to a $0.9 million decrease in lease termination fees and a $0.4 
million increase in uncollectible receivables, partially offset by a $0.3 million increase in escalations and a $0.5 million increase 
in real estate tax recoveries.

Rental revenue includes (decreases) increases for straight-line rent adjustments totaling $(0.3) million in the 2020 period and 
$0.4 million in the 2019 period, and net increases for amortization of acquired real estate leases and assumed real estate lease 
obligations totaling $0 in the 2020 period and $0.1 million in the 2019 period.  Rental income also includes the recognition of 
lease termination fees totaling $1.3 million in the 2020 period and $2.2 million in the 2019 period.  

Other revenue.  Other revenue, which primarily includes parking revenue, decreased $6.8 million, or 62.3% in the 2020 period, 
compared to the 2019 period, primarily due to the properties sold in 2020 and 2019.  Other revenue decreased $2.2 million, or 
36.6%, at the comparable properties in the 2020 period, compared to the 2019 period primarily due to decreased parking 
revenue during the 2020 period as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.

Operating expenses.  Operating expenses decreased $17.6 million, or 37.8%, in the 2020 period, compared to the 2019 period, 
primarily due to the properties sold in 2020 and 2019.  Operating expenses at our comparable properties increased $0.5 million, 
or 1.9%, primarily due to a $0.5 million increase in real estate tax expense, a $0.2 million increase in maintenance and repairs 
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expense, a $0.2 million increase in salaries and benefits expense and a $0.1 million increase in HVAC expense, partially offset 
by a $0.5 million decrease in utilities expense and a $0.2 million decrease in parking expense.

Depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation and amortization decreased $8.8 million, or 31.3%, in the 2020 period, compared 
to the 2019 period, primarily due to the properties sold in 2020 and 2019. 

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased $5.2 million, or 13.6% in the 2020 period, 
compared to the 2019 period, primarily due to a $3.2 million decrease in compensation expenses related to severance, a $1.6 
million decrease in bonus expense, a $0.7 million decrease in payroll expenses as a result of a staffing reduction, a $0.4 million 
decrease in share-based compensation expense and a $0.3 million decrease in travel, meals and entertainment expense as a 
result of the COVID-19 outbreak, partially offset by a $1.4 million increase in state franchise taxes largely related to property 
sales.

Interest and other income, net.  Interest and other income, net decreased $51.2 million, or 70.7%, in the 2020 period, compared 
to the 2019 period, primarily due to $49.4 million less interest received from lower average interest rates.  

Interest expense.  Interest expense decreased $8.3 million, or 93.0%, in the 2020 period, compared to the 2019 period, primarily 
due to the redemption in June 2019 of all $250 million of our 5.875% senior unsecured notes due 2020, the repayment at par in 
July 2020 of mortgage debt at 206 East 9th Street and a decrease in amortization of a discount and a decrease in amortization of 
deferred financing fees, partially offset by a decrease in amortization of a premium.

Gain (loss) on early extinguishment of debt.  The gain on early extinguishment of debt of $0.1 million in the 2020 period 
reflects the write off of an unamortized premium, net of prepayment fees and the write off of unamortized deferred financing 
fees related to the repayment at par of mortgage debt at 206 East 9th Street.  The loss on early extinguishment of debt of $6.4 
million in the 2019 period reflects the write off of unamortized deferred financing fees, the write off of an unamortized discount 
and prepayment fees related to the redemption of all $250 million of our 5.875% senior unsecured notes due 2020.

Gain on sale of properties, net.  Gain on sale of properties, net increased $24.6 million, or 5.8%, in the 2020 period, compared 
to the 2019 period.  Gain on sale of properties, net in the 2020 period primarily related to the following (dollars in thousands):
Asset Gain on Sale

109 Brookline Avenue $ 225,190 
333 108th Avenue NE 194,662 
Georgetown-Green and Harris Buildings 24,916 
Research Park(1) 2,000 

$ 446,768 

(1) There was consideration of $2.0 million being held in escrow related to the sale of this property in 2019.  In June 2020, 
these proceeds were released to the Company, and we recorded an additional $2.0 million gain on the sale for year ended 
December 31, 2020.

Gain on sale of properties, net in the 2019 period primarily related to the following (dollars in thousands):
Asset Gain on Sale

1735 Market Street $ 192,985 
600 108th Avenue NE 149,009 
Research Park 78,158 

$ 420,152 

Income tax expense.  Income tax expense decreased $1.0 million, or 80.7%, in the 2020 period, compared to the 2019 period, 
primarily due to a decrease in state and local taxes as a result of the sale of properties.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest.  From 2017 through 2020, we granted LTIP Units to certain of our trustees 
and employees.  As these LTIP Units vest, they automatically convert to operating partnership units, or OP Units.  The net 
income attributable to noncontrolling interest increased $0.6 million, or 329.6% in the 2020 period, compared to the 2019 
period, primarily due to the measurement of LTIP Units in the 2020 period.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

 Our Operating Liquidity and Resources
 

As of December 31, 2020, we had $3.0 billion of cash and cash equivalents.  We expect to use our cash balances, cash 
flow from our operations and proceeds of any future property sales to fund our operations, make distributions, repurchase our 
common shares, make acquisitions and/or investments in properties or businesses, fund tenant improvements and leasing costs 
and for other general business purposes.  We believe our cash balances and the cash flow from our operations will be sufficient 
to fund our ordinary course activities.

Our future cash flows from operating activities will depend on our ability to collect rent from our current tenants under 
their leases. Our ability to collect rent and generate parking revenue in the near term may continue to be adversely impacted by 
the market disruption caused by the COVID-19 outbreak.  We cannot predict the ultimate impact of the pandemic on our results 
of operations.

Our future cash flows from operating activities will also depend upon our:
 

• ability to maintain or improve the occupancy of, and the rental rates at, our properties;
 

• ability to control operating and financing expense increases at our properties; and
 

• ability to purchase additional properties, which produce rents, less property operating expenses, in excess of 
our costs of acquisition capital.

 
In addition, our future cash flows will also depend in part on interest income earned on our invested cash balances.

Volatility in energy costs and real estate taxes may cause our future operating expenses to fluctuate; however, the impact 
of these fluctuations is expected to be partially offset by the pass through of operating expenses to our tenants pursuant to lease 
terms, although there can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully offset these expenses or that doing so would not 
negatively impact our competitive position or business.  

 
Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities were $33.3 million, $643.3 million and 

$(490.0) million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2020, and $98.9 million, $995.7 million and $(698.1) million, 
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2019.  Changes in these three categories of our cash flows between 2020 and 
2019 are primarily related to a decrease in property net operating income (as a result of property dispositions), a decrease in 
interest income (as a result of lower average interest rates in 2020), a decrease in real estate improvements, dispositions of 
properties, proceeds from maturities of marketable securities, repayments of debt and repurchase of our common shares.

 
Our Investment and Financing Liquidity and Resources
 

As of July 5, 2020, we repaid at par $25.1 million of mortgage debt at 206 East 9th Street and recognized a gain on early 
extinguishment of debt of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from the write off of an unamortized premium, 
net of prepayment fees and the write off of unamortized deferred financing fees.   

On September 16, 2020 our Board of Trustees declared a special, one-time cash distribution of $3.50 per common share/
unit to shareholders/unitholders of record on October 1, 2020. On October 20, 2020, we paid this distribution to such 
shareholders/unitholders in the aggregate amount of $426.7 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we paid an aggregate of $8.0 million of distributions on our series D preferred 
shares.  On January 11, 2021, our Board of Trustees declared a dividend of $0.40625 per series D preferred share, which will be 
paid on February 16, 2021 to shareholders of record on January 28, 2021.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we repurchased and retired 711,000 of our common shares under the March 
2019 authorization at a weighted average price of $29.31 per share, for a total investment of $20.8 million. The share 
repurchases were completed prior to the special, one-time cash distribution of $3.50 per common share/unit to shareholders/
unitholders paid on October 20, 2020. On March 10, 2020, our Board of Trustees authorized the repurchase of up to an 
additional $150.0 million of our outstanding common shares over the twelve months following the date of authorization, none 
of which has been utilized. The $150.0 million of remaining authorization available under our share repurchase program as of 
December 31, 2020 is scheduled to expire on March 10, 2021.
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We may utilize various types of financings, including debt or equity, to fund future acquisitions and/or investments and to 
pay any debt and other obligations as they become due. Although we are not currently rated by the debt rating agencies, the 
completion and the costs of any future debt transactions will depend primarily upon market conditions and our credit ratings at 
such time, if any. We have no control over market conditions. Any credit ratings will depend upon evaluations by credit rating 
agencies of our business practices and plans and, in particular, whether we appear to have the ability to maintain our earnings, 
to space our debt maturities and to balance our use of debt and equity capital so that our financial performance and leverage 
ratios afford us flexibility to withstand any reasonably foreseeable adverse changes. We intend to conduct our business 
activities in a manner which will continue to afford us reasonable access to capital for investment and financing activities. 
However, there can be no assurance regarding our ability to complete any debt or equity offerings or that our cost of any future 
public or private financings will not increase. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we sold three properties with a combined 1.0 million square feet for an 
aggregate sale price of $756.5 million. For more information regarding these transactions, see Note 3 of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by 
reference.

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 amounts capitalized at our properties, including properties 
sold or classified as held for sale, for tenant improvements, leasing costs and building improvements were as follows (amounts 
in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Tenant improvements(1) $ 9,598 $ 7,529 $ 47,248 
Leasing costs(2)  2,097  5,409  21,674 
Building improvements(3)  2,044  6,366  9,046 

(1) Tenant improvements include capital expenditures to improve tenants’ space.
(2) Leasing costs include leasing commissions and related legal expenses.
(3) Building improvements generally include expenditures to replace obsolete building components and expenditures that 

extend the useful life of existing assets.  Tenant-funded capital expenditures are excluded.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, commitments made for expenditures in connection with leasing space at our 
properties, excluding leasing activity for assets during the quarter in which the asset was sold or classified as held for sale, were 
as follows (dollar and square foot measures in thousands):

New
Leases Renewals Total

Square feet leased during the period  66  76  142 
Tenant improvements and leasing commissions $ 5,916 $ 3,858 $ 9,774 
Tenant improvements and leasing commissions per square foot $ 89.63 $ 50.76 $ 68.83 
Weighted average lease term by square foot (years)  8.5  6.3  7.3 
Tenant improvements and leasing commissions per square foot per year of lease term $ 10.49 $ 8.04 $ 9.37 

 
Committed but unspent tenant related obligations are leasing commissions and tenant improvements.  Based on existing 

leases as of December 31, 2020, committed but unspent tenant related obligations were $9.6 million.

Debt Covenants
 

We have no debt outstanding as of December 31, 2020, and, as a result, we have no debt covenants.  We are also no 
longer rated by the debt rating agencies. 

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS (FFO) AND NORMALIZED FFO

We compute FFO in accordance with standards established by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, 
or Nareit.  Nareit defines FFO as net income (loss), calculated in accordance with GAAP, excluding real estate depreciation and 
amortization, gains (or losses) from sales of depreciable property, impairment of depreciable real estate, and our portion of 
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these items related to equity investees and non-controlling interests.  Our calculation of Normalized FFO differs from Nareit’s 
definition of FFO because we exclude certain items that we view as nonrecurring or impacting comparability from period to 
period.  We consider FFO and Normalized FFO to be appropriate measures of operating performance for a REIT, along with 
net income, net income attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders and cash flow from operating activities. 

We believe that FFO and Normalized FFO provide useful information to investors because by excluding the effects of 
certain historical amounts, such as depreciation expense, FFO and Normalized FFO may facilitate a comparison of our 
operating performance between periods and with other REITs.  FFO and Normalized FFO do not represent cash generated by 
operating activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as alternatives to net income, net income 
attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders or cash flow from operating activities, determined in accordance 
with GAAP, or as indicators of our financial performance or liquidity, nor are these measures necessarily indicative of 
sufficient cash flow to fund all of our needs.  These measures should be considered in conjunction with net income, net income 
attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders and cash flow from operating activities as presented in our 
consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of comprehensive income and consolidated statements of cash 
flows.  Other REITs and real estate companies may calculate FFO and Normalized FFO differently than we do.

The following table provides a reconciliation of net income to FFO attributable to Equity Commonwealth common 
shareholders and unitholders and a calculation to Normalized FFO attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders 
and unitholders (in thousands): 

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Reconciliation of FFO:
Net income $ 452,093 $ 492,866 $ 272,908 

Real estate depreciation and amortization  18,442  27,037  47,816 
Loss on asset impairment  —  —  12,087 
Gain on sale of properties, net  (446,744)  (422,172)  (251,417) 

FFO attributable to Equity Commonwealth  23,791  97,731  81,394 
Preferred distributions  (7,988)  (7,988)  (7,988) 

FFO attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders and unitholders $ 15,803 $ 89,743 $ 73,406 

Reconciliation of Normalized FFO:
   

FFO attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders and unitholders $ 15,803 $ 89,743 $ 73,406 
Lease value amortization  —  (117)  54 
Straight-line rent adjustments  340  (418)  (4,971) 
Sold property expense included in interest and other income, net  515  —  — 
(Gain) loss on early extinguishment of debt  (131)  6,374  7,122 
Loss on sale of securities  —  —  4,987 
Loss on sale of real estate mortgage receivable  —  —  2,117 
Taxes related to property sales included in general and administrative  1,472  —  — 
Taxes related to property sales, net included in income tax expense  130  142  2,726 

Normalized FFO attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders and 
unitholders $ 18,129 $ 95,724 $ 85,441 

PROPERTY NET OPERATING INCOME (NOI) 

We use property net operating income, or NOI, to evaluate the performance of our properties.  We define NOI as income 
from our real estate including lease termination fees received from tenants less our property operating expenses. NOI excludes 
amortization of capitalized tenant improvement costs and leasing commissions and corporate level expenses.

The following table includes the reconciliation of NOI to net income, the most directly comparable financial measure 
under GAAP reported in our consolidated financial statements.  We consider NOI to be an appropriate supplemental measure to 
net income because it helps to understand the operations of our properties.  We use NOI internally to evaluate property level 
performance, and we believe that NOI provides useful information to investors regarding our results of operations because it 
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reflects only those income and expense items that are incurred at the property level and may facilitate comparisons of our 
operating performance between periods and with other REITs.  NOI does not represent cash generated by operating activities in 
accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income, net income attributable to Equity 
Commonwealth common shareholders or cash flow from operating activities, determined in accordance with GAAP, or as an 
indicator of our financial performance or liquidity, nor is this measure necessarily indicative of sufficient cash flow to fund all 
of our needs.  This measure should be considered in conjunction with net income, net income attributable to Equity 
Commonwealth common shareholders and cash flow from operating activities as presented in our consolidated statements of 
operations, consolidated statements of comprehensive income and consolidated statements of cash flows.  Other REITs and real 
estate companies may calculate NOI differently than we do.  

A reconciliation of NOI to net income for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, is as follows (in 
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Rental revenue $ 62,134 $ 116,869 $ 184,368 
Other revenue 4,144 10,981 12,654 
Operating expenses (28,858) (46,418) (79,916) 

NOI $ 37,420 $ 81,432 $ 117,106 

NOI $ 37,420 $ 81,432 $ 117,106 
Depreciation and amortization (19,329) (28,122) (49,041) 
General and administrative (33,233) (38,442) (44,439) 
Loss on asset impairment — — (12,087) 
Interest and other income, net 21,228 72,392 46,815 
Interest expense (620) (8,908) (26,585) 
Gain (loss) on early extinguishment of debt 131 (6,374) (7,122) 
Gain on sale of properties, net 446,744 422,172 251,417 
Income before income taxes 452,341 494,150 276,064 
Income tax expense (248) (1,284) (3,156) 
Net income $ 452,093 $ 492,866 $ 272,908 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our critical accounting policies are those that will have the most impact on the reporting of our financial condition and 
results of operations and those requiring significant judgments and estimates. We believe that our judgments and estimates are 
consistently applied and produce financial information that fairly presents our results of operations. Our most critical 
accounting policies involve our investments in real property. These policies affect our assessment of the carrying values and 
impairments of long lived assets.

We periodically evaluate our properties for possible impairments. Impairment indicators may include declining tenant 
occupancy, lack of progress releasing vacant space, tenant bankruptcies, low long-term prospects for improvement in property 
performance, weak or declining tenant profitability, cash flow or liquidity, our decision to dispose of an asset before the end of 
its estimated useful life and legislative, market or industry changes that could permanently reduce the value of a property. If 
indicators of impairment are present, we evaluate the carrying value of the related property by comparing it to the expected 
future undiscounted cash flows to be generated from that property over our anticipated hold period. If the sum of these expected 
future cash flows is less than the carrying value, we reduce the net carrying value of the property to its estimated fair value. This 
analysis requires us to judge whether indicators of impairment exist and to estimate likely future cash flows. Projections of 
expected future operating cash flows require that we estimate future market rental revenue amounts subsequent to the expiration 
of current lease agreements, future property operating expenses, the number of months it takes to re-lease the property, and the 
number of years the property is held for investment, among other factors. The subjectivity of assumptions used in the future 
cash flow analysis, including discount rates, could result in an incorrect assessment of the property's fair value and could result 
in the misstatement of the carrying value of our real estate assets and net income (loss).
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These policies involve significant judgments made based upon experience, including judgments about current valuations, 
ultimate realizable value, estimated useful lives, salvage or residual value, the ability and willingness of our tenants to perform 
their obligations to us, current and future economic conditions and competitive factors in the markets in which our properties 
are located. Competition, economic conditions and other factors may cause occupancy declines in the future. In the future, we 
may need to revise our carrying value assessments to incorporate information which is not now known, and such revisions 
could increase or decrease our depreciation expense related to properties we own or decrease the carrying values of our assets.

RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

For information about our related person transactions, see Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
 

We do not currently have any exposure to risks associated with market changes in interest rates.
 
Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The information required by Item 8 is included in Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, our management carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and 
with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls 
and procedures pursuant to Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 
2020.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2020, 
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management Report on Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal 
control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and Board of Trustees regarding the preparation 
and fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent 
limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to 
financial statement preparation and presentation.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. In 
making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 framework) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, we believe that, as of 
December 31, 2020 our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our 2020 consolidated financial 
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial 
reporting. The report appears on page F-2.

Item 9B.    Other Information.

None.
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PART III

Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applies to all our representatives, including our officers and Trustees. Our 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website, www.eqcre.com. A printed copy of our Code of Business 
Conduct and Ethics is also available free of charge to any person who requests a copy by writing to our Secretary, Equity 
Commonwealth, Two North Riverside Plaza, Suite 2100, Chicago, IL 60606. We have disclosed and intend to disclose any 
amendments or waivers to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to our principal executive officer, principal 
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller (or any person performing similar functions) on our website.

The remainder of the information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement.

Item 11.    Executive Compensation.

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement.

Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement.

Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement.

Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(i) and (ii) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule.

The following consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of Equity Commonwealth are included 
on the pages indicated:

 Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations F-4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income F-5
Consolidated Statements of Equity F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-9
Schedule III—Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation S-1

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not required 
under the related instructions, or are inapplicable, and therefore have been omitted.

(iii)   Exhibits.

Exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 have been included only with the 
version of that Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC. A copy of that Annual Report, including the exhibits, is 
available free of charge by visiting www.sec.gov or upon written request to: Investor Relations, Equity Commonwealth, Two 
North Riverside Plaza, Suite 2100, Chicago, IL 60606, telephone (312) 646-2800.
Exhibit 
Number Description

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of the Company, dated July 1, 1994, as 
amended to date. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 1, 
2014.)

3.2 Articles Supplementary, dated October 10, 2006. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed October 11, 2006.)

3.3 Articles Supplementary, dated May 31, 2011. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed May 31, 2011.)

3.4 Articles Supplementary, dated March 14, 2018. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed March 15, 2018.)

3.5 Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, adopted April 2, 2020. (Incorporated by reference to 
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 3, 2020.)

4.1 Form of Common Share Certificate. (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014.)

4.2 Form of 6 1/2% Series D Cumulative Convertible Preferred Share Certificate. (Incorporated by reference to 
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.)

4.3 Description of the Company's Securities. (Filed herewith.)
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Exhibit 
Number Description

10.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of EQC Operating Trust, dated November 10, 
2016. (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 14, 2016.)

10.2 Master Sub-Management Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2014, between Equity Commonwealth Management 
LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and CBRE, Inc. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 17, 2014.)

10.3 Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 18, 2015.)

10.4 Amendment No. 1 to the Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference 
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 18, 2016.)

10.5 Amendment No. 2 to the Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference 
to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed July 16, 2019.)

10.6 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Employees under Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus Incentive 
Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 15, 2018.)

10.7 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Employees under Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus 
Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 
15, 2018.)

10.8 Form of Time-Based LTIP Unit Agreement for Employees under Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus 
Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 
15, 2018.)

10.9 Form of Performance-Based LTIP Unit Agreement for Employees under Equity Commonwealth 2015 
Omnibus Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed 
February 15, 2018.)

10.10 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Chairman of the Board under Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus 
Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 
15, 2018.)

10.11 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Chairman of the Board under Equity Commonwealth 2015 
Omnibus Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed 
February 15, 2018.)

10.12 Form of Time-Based LTIP Unit Agreement for Chairman of the Board under Equity Commonwealth 2015 
Omnibus Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed 
February 15, 2018.)

10.13 Form of Performance-Based LTIP Unit Agreement for Chairman of the Board under Equity Commonwealth 
2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
filed February 15, 2018.)

10.14 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Trustees under Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan. 
(+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 15, 2016.)

10.15 Form of Time-Based LTIP Unit Agreement for Trustees under Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus 
Incentive Plan. (+) (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 21, 
2017.)

10.16 Summary of Trustee Compensation. (+) (Filed herewith.)
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Exhibit 
Number Description

10.17 Change in Control Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2019, by and between the Company, Equity 
Commonwealth Management LLC and David Helfand. (+) (†) (Incorporated by reference to the Company's 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019.)

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company. (Filed herewith.)

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP. (Filed herewith.)

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification. (Filed herewith.)

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification. (Filed herewith.)

32.1 Section 1350 Certification. (Furnished herewith.)

101.1 The following materials from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2020, formatted in Inline XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and 
(vi) related notes to these financial statements, tagged as blocks of text and in detail. (Filed herewith.)

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

(+) Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

†   Pursuant to Instruction 2 of Item 601 of Regulation S-K, Registrant has omitted certain change in control agreements 
(the “Omitted CIC Agreements”), which are substantially identical in all material respects except as to the parties 
thereto, the dates of execution, or other details. The below schedule identifies the Omitted CIC Agreements. The only 
term in the Omitted CIC Agreements that differs from the change in control agreement filed herewith is the term of 
coverage under the Company’s group health plan, which is 24 months under Section 3(a)(iv) of the Omitted CIC 
Agreements. The Registrant hereby agrees to file the Omitted CIC Agreements upon request by the Commission.

Schedule

1. Change in Control Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2019, by and between the Company, Equity Commonwealth
Management LLC and Adam Markman.

2. Change in Control Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2019, by and between the Company, Equity Commonwealth
Management LLC and David Weinberg.

3. Change in Control Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2019, by and between the Company, Equity Commonwealth
Management LLC and Orrin Shifrin.

Item 16.    Form 10-K Summary.

Not applicable
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

EQUITY COMMONWEALTH

By: /s/ David A. Helfand
David A. Helfand

President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: February 11, 2021
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 

persons on behalf of the registrant, in the capacities set forth below and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ David A. Helfand
President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive 
officer), Trustee February 11, 2021

David A. Helfand

/s/ Adam S. Markman
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer (principal financial officer) February 11, 2021

Adam S. Markman

/s/ Jeffrey D. Brown
Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer 
(principal accounting officer) February 11, 2021

Jeffrey D. Brown

/s/ Sam Zell Chairman of the Board of Trustees February 11, 2021
Sam Zell

/s/ Ellen-Blair Chube Trustee February 11, 2021
Ellen-Blair Chube

/s/ Martin L. Edelman Trustee February 11, 2021
Martin L. Edelman

/s/ Edward A. Glickman Trustee February 11, 2021
Edward A. Glickman

/s/ Peter Linneman Trustee February 11, 2021
Peter Linneman

/s/ James L. Lozier, Jr. Trustee February 11, 2021
James L. Lozier, Jr.

/s/ Mary Jane Robertson Trustee February 11, 2021
Mary Jane Robertson

/s/ Kenneth Shea Trustee February 11, 2021
Kenneth Shea

/s/ Gerald A. Spector Trustee February 11, 2021
Gerald A. Spector

/s/ James A. Star Trustee February 11, 2021
James A. Star
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Trustees of Equity Commonwealth

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Equity Commonwealth (the Company) as of December 31, 
2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, equity and cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at 
Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(2013 framework) and our report dated February 11, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters
Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or 
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the 
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. We determined that there 
are no critical audit matters.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1986.
Chicago, Illinois
February 11, 2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Trustees of Equity Commonwealth

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited Equity Commonwealth’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Equity Commonwealth (the Company) maintained, in all 
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of Equity Commonwealth as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related 
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed at Item 15(a) and our report dated 
February 11, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report 
on Assessment of Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. 

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 11, 2021
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December 31,

2020 2019

ASSETS
Real estate properties:

Land $ 44,060 $ 85,627 
Buildings and improvements 357,650 576,494 

401,710 662,121 
Accumulated depreciation (143,319) (202,700) 

258,391 459,421 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,987,225 2,795,642 
Restricted cash — 5,003 
Rents receivable 14,702 19,554 
Other assets, net 17,353 39,757 
Total assets $ 3,277,671 $ 3,319,377 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Mortgage note payable, net $ — $ 25,691 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other 20,588 37,153 
Rent collected in advance 2,928 3,127 
Distributions payable 10,991 7,534 
Total liabilities 34,507 73,505 
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value: 50,000,000 shares authorized;
Series D preferred shares; 6.50% cumulative convertible; 4,915,196 shares issued and 

outstanding, aggregate liquidation preference of $122,880 119,263 119,263 
Common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value: 350,000,000 shares authorized; 

121,522,555 and 121,924,199 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 1,215 1,219 
Additional paid in capital 4,294,632 4,313,831 
Cumulative net income 3,814,948 3,363,654 
Cumulative common distributions (4,283,668) (3,851,666) 
Cumulative preferred distributions (709,712) (701,724) 

Total shareholders’ equity 3,236,678 3,244,577 
Noncontrolling interest 6,486 1,295 
Total equity 3,243,164 3,245,872 
Total liabilities and equity $ 3,277,671 $ 3,319,377 

See accompanying notes.

EQUITY COMMONWEALTH

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(amounts in thousands, except share data)
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December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Revenues:
Rental revenue $ 62,134 $ 116,869 $ 184,368 
Other revenue 4,144 10,981 12,654 

Total revenues 66,278 127,850 197,022 
Expenses:

Operating expenses 28,858 46,418 79,916 
Depreciation and amortization 19,329 28,122 49,041 
General and administrative 33,233 38,442 44,439 
Loss on asset impairment — — 12,087 

Total expenses 81,420 112,982 185,483 
Interest and other income, net 21,228 72,392 46,815 
Interest expense (including net amortization of debt discounts, premiums and deferred 
   financing fees of $(119), $204 and $2,553, respectively) (620) (8,908)  (26,585)
Gain (loss) on early extinguishment of debt 131 (6,374) (7,122) 
Gain on sale of properties, net 446,744 422,172 251,417 
Income before income taxes 452,341 494,150 276,064 
Income tax expense (248) (1,284) (3,156) 
Net income 452,093 492,866 272,908 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (799) (186) (95) 
Net income attributable to Equity Commonwealth 451,294 492,680 272,813 
Preferred distributions (7,988) (7,988) (7,988) 
Net income attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders $ 443,306 $ 484,692 $ 264,825 

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic 121,786 122,091 122,314 
Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted 126,606 126,260 123,385 
Earnings per common share attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders:

Basic $ 3.64 $ 3.97 $ 2.17 
Diluted $ 3.56 $ 3.90 $ 2.15 

See accompanying notes.

EQUITY COMMONWEALTH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)
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Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Net income $ 452,093 $ 492,866 $ 272,908 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments — — 456 
Unrealized gain, net on marketable securities — 342 1,199 

Total comprehensive income 452,093 493,208 274,563 
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest (799) (186) (95) 
Total comprehensive income attributable to Equity Commonwealth $ 451,294 $ 493,022 $ 274,468 

See accompanying notes.

EQUITY COMMONWEALTH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(amounts in thousands)
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Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 452,093 $ 492,866 $ 272,908 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 16,162 23,782 40,386 
Net amortization of debt discounts, premiums and deferred financing fees (119) 204 2,553 
Straight-line rental income 340 (418) (4,971)
Amortization of acquired real estate leases — 158 2,187 
Other amortization 3,167 4,009 6,127 
Amortization of right-of-use asset 767 736 — 
Share-based compensation 13,215 14,426 19,697 
Loss on asset impairment — — 12,087 
(Gain) loss on early extinguishment of debt (131) 6,374 7,122 
Loss on sale of marketable securities — — 4,987 
Net gain on sale of properties (446,744) (422,172) (251,417) 
Loss on sale of real estate mortgage receivable — — 2,117 
Change in assets and liabilities:

Rents receivable and other assets (2,119) (13,099) (19,886) 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other (3,104) (5,311) (704) 
Rent collected in advance (199) (2,610) (3,657) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 33,328 98,945 89,536 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Real estate improvements (12,039) (26,052) (49,930) 
Insurance proceeds received — — 1,443 
Proceeds from sale of properties, net 655,291 771,787 961,079 
Proceeds from sale of real estate mortgage receivable — — 5,599 
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities — — 23,933 
Proceeds from maturity of marketable securities — 250,000 — 

Net cash provided by investing activities 643,252 995,735 942,124 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repurchase and retirement of common shares (26,897) (5,487) (93,976) 
Payments on borrowings (25,441) (255,842) (581,460) 
Contributions from holders of noncontrolling interest 1 — 1 
Distributions to common shareholders (427,795) (428,649) (304,612) 
Distributions to preferred shareholders (7,988) (7,988) (7,988) 
Distributions to holders of noncontrolling interest (1,849) (170) (114)
Redemption of noncontrolling interest (31) — — 

Net cash used in financing activities (490,000) (698,136) (988,149) 

Increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 186,580 396,544 43,511 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of year 2,800,645 2,404,101 2,360,590 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of year $ 2,987,225 $ 2,800,645 $ 2,404,101 

See accompanying notes.

EQUITY COMMONWEALTH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(amounts in thousands)
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Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Interest paid $ 843 $ 13,032 $ 27,117 
Taxes paid, net 1,444 2,933 2,264 

NON-CASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Recognition of right-of-use asset and lease liability $ — $ 1,503 $ — 
Accrued capital expenditures 986 1,383 13,540 

NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Distributions payable $ 10,991 $ 7,534 $ 4,068 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the 
consolidated balance sheets that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows 
(in thousands):

December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,987,225 $ 2,795,642 $ 2,400,803 
Restricted cash — 5,003 3,298 
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash flows $ 2,987,225 $ 2,800,645 $ 2,404,101 

See accompanying notes.

EQUITY COMMONWEALTH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(amounts in thousands)
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Note 1.  Organization

Equity Commonwealth, or the Company, is a real estate investment trust, or REIT, formed in 1986 under the laws of the 
State of Maryland. Our business is primarily the ownership and operation of office properties in the United States.  

On November 10, 2016, the Company converted to what is commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership real estate 
investment trust, or UPREIT. In connection with this conversion, the Company contributed substantially all of its assets to EQC 
Operating Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust, or the Operating Trust, and the Operating Trust assumed substantially 
all of the Company’s liabilities pursuant to a contribution and assignment agreement between the Company and the Operating 
Trust.

Since that time, the Company has conducted and intends to continue to conduct substantially all of its activities through 
the Operating Trust. The Company beneficially owned, 99.80% of the outstanding shares of beneficial interest, designated as 
units, in the Operating Trust, or OP Units, as of December 31, 2020, and the Company is the sole trustee of the Operating 
Trust.  As the sole trustee, the Company generally has the power under the declaration of trust of the Operating Trust to manage 
and conduct the business of the Operating Trust, subject to certain limited approval and voting rights of other holders of OP 
Units. 

At December 31, 2020, our portfolio consisted of four properties (eight buildings), with a combined 1.5 million square 
feet.  As of December 31, 2020, we had $3.0 billion of cash and cash equivalents.  All numbers of properties, numbers of 
buildings and square feet are unaudited.

Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation.    The consolidated financial statements include our investments in 100% owned subsidiaries and 
majority owned subsidiaries that are controlled by us. References to we, us, our and the Company, refer to Equity 
Commonwealth and its consolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020, unless the context indicates otherwise. All 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

Real Estate Properties.    We record real estate properties at cost. We depreciate real estate investments on a straight-line 
basis over estimated useful lives of up to 40 years for buildings and improvements, and up to 12 years for personal property.

Each time we enter into a new lease, or materially modify an existing lease, we evaluate its classification as either a 
finance or operating lease. The classification of a lease as finance or operating affects the carrying value of a property, as well 
as our recognition of rental payments as revenue. These evaluations require us to make estimates of, among other things, the 
remaining useful life and fair market value of a leased property, appropriate discount rates and future cash flows.

We allocate the consideration paid for our properties among land, buildings and improvements and, for properties that 
qualify as acquired businesses under the Business Combinations Topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, 
Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, to identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting of the value of above 
market and below market leases, the value of acquired in place leases and the value of tenant relationships. Purchase price 
allocations and the determination of useful lives are based on our estimates and, under some circumstances, studies from 
independent real estate appraisal firms to provide market information and evaluations that are relevant to our purchase price 
allocations and determinations of useful lives; however, we are ultimately responsible for the purchase price allocations and 
determination of useful lives.

We allocate the consideration to land, buildings and improvements based on a determination of the fair values of these 
assets assuming the property is vacant. We determine the fair value of a property using methods that we believe are similar to 
those used by independent appraisers. Purchase price allocations for above market and below market leases are based on the 
estimated present value (using an interest rate which reflects our assessment of the risks associated with the leases acquired) of 
the difference between (1) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the acquired in place leases and (2) our estimate of 
fair market lease rates for the corresponding leases, measured over a period equal to the remaining non-cancelable terms of the 
respective leases. Purchase price allocations to acquired in place leases and tenant relationships are determined as the excess of 
(1) the purchase price paid for a property after adjusting existing in place leases to estimated market rental rates over (2) the
estimated fair value of the property as if vacant. We aggregate this value between acquired in place lease values and tenant
relationships based on our evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant's lease; however, the value of tenant
relationships has not been separated from acquired in place lease value for our properties because we believe such value and

EQUITY COMMONWEALTH

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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related amortization expense is immaterial for acquisitions reflected in our historical financial statements. We consider certain 
factors in performing these analyses including estimates of carrying costs during the expected lease up periods, including real 
estate taxes, insurance and other operating income and expenses and costs to execute similar leases in current market 
conditions, such as leasing commissions, legal and other related costs. If we believe the value of tenant relationships is material 
in the future, those amounts will be separately allocated and amortized over the estimated lives of the relationships. We 
recognize the excess, if any, of the consideration paid over amounts allocated to land, buildings and improvements and 
identified intangible assets and liabilities as goodwill and we recognize gains if amounts allocated exceed the consideration 
paid.

We amortize capitalized above market lease values as a reduction to rental income over the remaining terms of the 
respective leases. We amortize capitalized below market lease values as an increase to rental income over the remaining terms 
of the respective leases. We amortize the value of acquired in place leases exclusive of the value of above market and below 
market acquired in place leases to expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases.  If a lease is terminated prior to its 
stated expiration, the unamortized lease intangibles relating to that lease is written off.

We review our properties for impairment quarterly, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.  Impairment indicators may include our decision to dispose of an asset before the end 
of its estimated useful life, declining tenant occupancy, lack of progress releasing vacant space, tenant bankruptcies, low long-
term prospects for improvement in property performance, weak or declining tenant profitability, and cash flow or liquidity. 
When indicators of potential impairment are present that suggest that the carrying amounts of real estate assets may not be 
recoverable, we assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the respective carrying values will be 
recovered through the estimated undiscounted future operating cash flows expected from the use of the assets and their eventual 
disposition. The determination of undiscounted cash flow includes consideration of many factors including income to be earned 
from the investment over our anticipated hold period, holding costs (exclusive of interest), estimated selling prices, and 
prevailing economic and market conditions.  In the event that such expected undiscounted future cash flows do not exceed the 
carrying values, we estimate the fair value of the assets and record an impairment charge equal to the amount by which the 
carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value.  Estimated fair values are calculated based on the following information, (i) 
recent third party estimates of market value, (ii) market prices for comparable properties, or (iii) the present value of future cash 
flows. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we did not record any loss on asset impairment.  During the year 
ended December 31, 2018, we recorded a loss on asset impairment totaling $12.1 million, to reduce the carrying value of 
properties to their estimated fair values (see Note 14).

When we classify properties as held for sale, we discontinue the recording of depreciation expense and estimate their fair 
value less costs to sell. If we determine that the carrying value for these properties exceed their estimated fair value less costs to 
sell, we record a loss on asset impairment. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we did not have any properties classified as held 
for sale. 

Certain of our real estate assets contain hazardous substances, including asbestos. We believe any asbestos in our 
buildings is contained in accordance with current regulations. If we remove the asbestos or renovate or demolish these 
properties, certain environmental regulations govern the manner in which the asbestos must be handled and removed. We do 
not believe that there are other environmental conditions or issues at any of our properties that have had or will have a material 
adverse effect on us. However, no assurances can be given that conditions or issues are not present at our properties or that 
costs we may be required to incur in the future to remediate contamination or comply with environmental, health and safety 
laws will not have a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we did 
not have any accrued environmental remediation costs. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents.    Our cash and cash equivalents consist of cash maintained in time deposits, depository 
accounts and money market accounts.  We regularly monitor the credit ratings of the financial institutions holding our deposits 
to minimize our exposure to credit risk.  Throughout the year, we have cash balances in excess of federally insured limits 
deposited with various financial institutions. We do not believe we are exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash 
equivalents. 

Marketable Securities.    All of our marketable securities were classified as available-for-sale and consisted of United 
States Treasury notes and common stock.  Available-for-sale securities were presented on our consolidated balance sheets at 
fair value.  Changes in values of the United States Treasury notes were recognized in cumulative other comprehensive loss.  
Realized gains and losses were recognized in earnings only upon the sale of the United States Treasury notes.  Changes in 

EQUITY COMMONWEALTH
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values of common stock prior to their sale in March 2018, were recognized in interest and other income, net on the consolidated 
statements of operations.

Restricted Cash.    Restricted cash consisted of amounts escrowed for future real estate taxes, insurance, leasing costs, 
capital expenditures and debt service, as required by our mortgage debt, as well as security deposits paid to us by some of our 
tenants.

Other Assets, Net.    Other assets consist principally of deferred leasing costs, capitalized lease incentives and prepaid 
property operating expenses. Deferred leasing costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective 
leases. Capitalized lease incentives are amortized on a straight-line basis against rental income over the terms of the respective 
leases. 

Revenue Recognition.    Rental revenue from operating leases, which includes rent concessions (including free rent and 
other lease incentives) and scheduled increases in rental rates during the lease term, is recognized on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the lease agreements. We defer the recognition of contingent rental income, such as percentage rents, until the 
specific targets that trigger the contingent rental income are achieved. Rental revenue also includes property level operating 
expenses reimbursed by our tenants, as well as other incidental revenues, which are recorded as expenses are incurred.

Lessee Lease Classification.  We classify leases as either finance or operating in accordance with FASB Topic 842, 
Leases.  This classification determines whether the related expense is recognized based on an effective interest method for 
finance leases or on a straight-line basis over its life for operating leases.  Additionally, lessees are required to record a right-of-
use asset and lease liability for all leases with a term greater than 12 months.  We have made an accounting policy election as 
permitted under ASC 842 to forgo recognition of a right-of-use asset and lease liability for short-term leases of less than 12 
months.  

Earnings Per Common Share.    Earnings per common share, or EPS, is computed using the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if our series D 
convertible preferred shares, our restricted share units, or RSUs, or beneficial interests in the Operating Trust, or LTIP Units, 
were converted into our common shares, which could result in a lower EPS amount. The effect of our series D convertible 
preferred shares on net income attributable to common shareholders is dilutive for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 
2019 and is anti-dilutive for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Reclassifications.    Reclassifications have been made to the prior years' financial statements and notes to conform to the 
current year's presentation.

Legal Matters.    We are or may become a party to various legal proceedings. We are not currently involved in any 
litigation nor, to our knowledge, is any litigation threatened against us where the outcome would, in our judgment based on 
information currently available to us, have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Income Taxes.    We are a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and are generally not subject to 
federal and state income taxes provided we distribute our taxable income to our shareholders and meet other requirements for 
qualifying as a REIT. We are also subject to certain state and local taxes without regard to our REIT status.

The Income Taxes Topic of the FASB ASC prescribes how we should recognize, measure and present in our financial 
statements uncertain tax positions that have been taken or are expected to be taken in a tax return. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is "more likely than not" that a particular tax position will be sustained upon examination or 
audit. To the extent the "more likely than not" standard has been satisfied, the benefit associated with a tax position is measured 
as the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement. We classify interest and penalties 
related to uncertain tax positions, if any, in our financial statements as a component of general and administrative expense.

Use of Estimates.    Preparation of these financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles, or GAAP, requires us to make estimates and assumptions that may affect the amounts reported in these financial 
statements and related notes. The actual results could differ from these estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncements.  In August 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, 2018-13, 
Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value 
Measurement, which changes the fair value measurement disclosure requirements of ASC 820. This update is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those fiscal years.  We adopted ASU 2018-13 on 
January 1, 2020, and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments, which requires more timely recognition of credit losses associated with financial assets.  This 
update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those fiscal years.  Early 
adoption is permitted for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018.  We adopted 
ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 2020, and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract (i.e., lessees and lessors). We adopted ASU 
2016-02 and the related amendments on January 1, 2019, and the adoption did not have a material impact to our financial 
statements.  Certain reclassifications were made to conform the prior period to our presentation of the condensed consolidated 
statements of operations as a result of adopting ASU 2016-02.  Amounts that were previously disclosed as "Tenant 
reimbursements and other income" are now included in "Rental revenue" and are no longer presented as a separate line item.  
Parking revenues that do not represent components of leases and were previously disclosed as "Rental income" are now 
included in "Other revenue."  Subsequent to January 1, 2019, provisions for credit losses are included in "Rental revenue."  
Provisions for credit losses prior to January 1, 2019 were disclosed as "Operating expenses" and were not reclassified to 
conform prior periods to the current presentation.

Note 3.  Real Estate Properties

Acquisitions and Expenditures

We did not make any acquisitions during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 or 2018. 

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, we made improvements, excluding tenant-funded 
improvements, to our properties totaling $11.6 million, $13.9 million and $56.3 million, respectively. 

We committed $9.8 million for expenditures related to 0.1 million square feet of leases executed during 2020, excluding 
leasing activity for assets during the quarter in which the asset was sold or classified as held for sale. Committed but unspent 
tenant related obligations are leasing commissions and tenant improvements.  Based on existing leases as of December 31, 
2020, committed but unspent tenant related obligations were $9.6 million.

Property Dispositions:

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we sold the following properties, which did not represent strategic shifts under 
ASC Topic 2015 (dollars in thousands):

Property Date Sold

Number 
of 

Properties

Number 
of 

Buildings
Square 
Footage

Gross Sale 
Price(1)

Gain on 
Sale

109 Brookline Avenue February 2020 1 1 285,556 $ 270,000 $ 225,190 
333 108th Avenue NE(2) March 2020 1 1 435,406 401,500 194,662 
Georgetown-Green and Harris Buildings May 2020 1 2 240,475 85,000 24,916 

3 4 961,437 $ 756,500 $ 444,768 

(1) Gross sale price is before transfer taxes and credits, such as capital costs, contractual lease costs and rent abatements.
(2) The sale represents an individually significant disposition.  The operating results of this property are included in continuing

operations for all periods presented through the date of sale.  Net income related to this property was $193.4 million, of
which $194.7 million related to the gain on sale, $14.2 million and $12.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018, respectively.
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, we sold the following properties, which did not represent strategic shifts under 
ASC Topic 2015 (dollars in thousands):

Property Date Sold

Number 
of 

Properties

Number 
of 

Buildings
Square 
Footage

Gross Sale 
Price(1)

Gain on 
Sale

1735 Market Street(2) March 2019 1 1 1,286,936 $ 451,600 $ 192,985 
600 108th Avenue NE(3) April 2019 1 1 254,510 195,000 149,009 
Research Park(4) June 2019 1 4 1,110,007 165,500 78,158 

3 6 2,651,453 $ 812,100 $ 420,152 

(1) Gross sale price is before transfer taxes and credits, such as capital costs, contractual lease costs and rent abatements.
(2) Certain of our subsidiaries sold 100.0% of the equity interests in the fee simple owner of this property. The sale represents

an individually significant disposition.  The operating results of this property are included in continuing operations for all
periods presented through the date of sale.  Net income related to this property was $0.1 million, $197.5 million, of which
$193.0 million related to the gain on sale, and $8.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
respectively.

(3) The property includes an office building and additional development rights.
(4) There was consideration of $2.0 million being held in escrow related to the sale of this property.  In June 2020, these

proceeds were released to the Company, and we recorded an additional $2.0 million gain on the sale for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we sold the following properties, which did not represent strategic shifts under
ASC Topic 2015 (dollars in thousands):  

Property Date Sold

Number 
of

Properties

Number 
of

Buildings
Square
Footage

Gross Sale 
Price(1)

Gain 
(Loss) on 

Sale

1600 Market Street February 2018 1 1 825,968 $ 160,000 $ 54,599 
600 West Chicago Avenue(2) February 2018 1 2 1,561,477 510,000 107,790 
5073, 5075, & 5085 S. Syracuse Street March 2018 1 1 248,493 115,186 42,762 
1601 Dry Creek Drive May 2018 1 1 552,865 68,500 26,979 
777 East Eisenhower Parkway August 2018 1 1 290,530 29,500 5,308 
8750 Bryn Mawr Avenue September 2018 1 2 636,078 141,000 15,194 
97 Newberry Road December 2018 1 1 289,386 7,100 (1,174) 

7 9 4,404,797 $ 1,031,286 $ 251,458 

(1) Gross sale price is before transfer taxes and credits, such as capital costs, contractual lease costs and rent abatements.
(2) The sale represents an individually significant disposition.  The operating results of this property are included in continued

operations for all periods presented through the date of sale.  Net income for this property was $0.3 million, $0.3 million
and $110.6 million, of which $107.8 million related to the gain on sale, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and
2018, respectively.

Lease Payments

Our real estate properties are generally leased on gross lease and modified gross lease bases pursuant to non-cancelable, 
fixed term operating leases expiring between 2021 and 2035. These gross leases and modified gross leases require us to pay all 
or some property operating expenses and to provide all or some property management services.  A portion of these property 
operating expenses are reimbursed by the tenants.

The FASB has issued additional guidance for companies to account for any COVID-19 related rent concessions in the 
form of FASB staff and board members’ remarks at the April 8, 2020 public meeting and the FASB staff question-and-answer 
document issued on April 10, 2020. We have elected the practical expedient to account for COVID-19 related rent concessions 
as if they were part of the enforceable rights and obligations of the parties under the existing lease contract. This policy has 
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been elected for our lessor portfolio for any rent deferrals, and we have elected to treat the related leases as if they are 
unchanged.  For year ended December 31, 2020, we deferred collection of approximately $0.3 million of rental income on 
revenue that was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

The future minimum lease payments, excluding tenant reimbursement revenue, scheduled to be received by us during the 
current terms of our leases as of December 31, 2020 are as follows (in thousands): 

2021 $ 35,796 
2022 34,511 
2023 32,300 
2024 25,799 
2025 22,144 
Thereafter 68,183 

$ 218,733 

Rental revenue consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Lease payments $ 40,514 $ 81,698 $ 129,539 
Variable lease payments 21,620 35,171 54,829 
Rental revenue $ 62,134 $ 116,869 $ 184,368 

Note 4. Lease Intangibles

Amortization of the lease intangibles for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, is as follows (in 
thousands):

December 31,

Income Statement Location 2020 2019 2018

Amortization of acquired in-place leases Depreciation and amortization $ — $ 275 $ 2,133 
Amortization of above and below market leases Increase (decrease) to rental income — 117 (54) 

Note 5.  Marketable Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2018, our marketable securities consisted of United States Treasury notes and 
common stock.  The United States Treasury notes were classified as available-for-sale and matured in 2019.  As of December 
31, 2020 and 2019, we did not have any marketable securities.

On January 1, 2018 we adopted ASU 2016-01 and reclassified a $1.9 million unrealized gain from cumulative other 
comprehensive loss to cumulative net income on our consolidated balance sheet.  In March 2018, we sold all common stock we 
held for total proceeds of $23.9 million and recognized a loss of $5.0 million in interest and other income, net during the year 
ended December 31, 2018.

Note 6. Other Assets

Real Estate Mortgages Receivable

We provided mortgage financing totaling $7.7 million at 6.0% per annum in connection with our sale of three properties 
(18 buildings) in January 2013 in Dearborn, MI.  In August 2018, we sold this real estate mortgage receivable for $5.7 million 
and recorded a loss of $2.1 million in interest and other income for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we did not have any real estate mortgages receivable.

Deferred Leasing Costs and Capitalized Lease Incentives

The following table summarizes our deferred leasing costs and capitalized lease incentives as of December 31, 2020, and 
2019 (in thousands):

December 31,

2020 2019

Deferred leasing costs $ 21,692 $ 36,546 
Accumulated amortization (10,251) (9,928) 

Deferred leasing costs, net $ 11,441 $ 26,618 

Capitalized lease incentives $ 2,938 $ 3,103 
Accumulated amortization (1,371) (1,073) 

Capitalized lease incentives, net $ 1,567 $ 2,030 

Future amortization of deferred leasing costs, included in amortization expense, and capitalized lease incentives, included 
in rental revenues, to be recognized by us during the current terms of our leases as of December 31, 2020 are approximately (in 
thousands): 

Deferred Leasing 
Costs

Capitalized Lease 
Incentives

2021 $ 2,425 $ 327 
2022 2,059 311 
2023 1,754 267 
2024 1,304 151 
2025 1,053 108 
Thereafter 2,846 403 

$ 11,441 $ 1,567 

Note 7.  Indebtedness

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, our outstanding indebtedness included the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2020 2019

Secured fixed rate debt
206 East 9th Street $ — $ 25,433 

$ — $ 25,433 
Unamortized net premiums and deferred financing fees — 258 

$ — $ 25,691 

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan:

On May 4, 2018, we redeemed at par the total $400.0 million outstanding under our 5-year and 7-year term loans and 
recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt of $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from the write off of 
unamortized deferred financing fees. Prior to the redemption of the term loans, borrowings under the 5-year term loan and 7-
year term loan, subject to certain exceptions, had interest rates of LIBOR rate plus a margin of 90 to 180 basis points for the 5-
year term loan and 140 to 235 basis points for the 7-year term loan, in each case depending on our credit rating. 
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On December 26, 2018, we terminated the credit agreement and recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt of $0.2 
million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from the write off of unamortized deferred financing fees.  

Debt Covenants:

We have no debt outstanding as of December 31, 2020, and, as a result, we have no debt covenants.  We are also no 
longer rated by the debt rating agencies.

Senior Unsecured Notes:

On June 28, 2019, we redeemed all $250.0 million of our 5.875% senior unsecured notes due 2020 and recognized a loss 
on early extinguishment of debt of $6.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from prepayment fees, the write off of 
unamortized deferred financing fees and the write off of an unamortized discount. 

On March 7, 2018, we redeemed at par all $175.0 million of our 5.75% senior unsecured notes due 2042 and recognized a 
loss on early extinguishment of debt of $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from the write off of unamortized 
deferred financing fees. 

Mortgage Notes Payable:

As of July 5, 2020, we repaid at par $25.1 million of mortgage debt at 206 East 9th Street and recognized a gain on early 
extinguishment of debt of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from the write off of an unamortized premium, 
net of prepayment fees and the write off of unamortized deferred financing fees. 

In December 2018, we repaid $4.9 million of mortgage debt at 97 Newberry Road and recognized a loss on early 
extinguishment of debt of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from prepayment fees and the write off of 
unamortized deferred financing fees.

Note 8.  Shareholders’ Equity

Common Share Issuances:

See Note 12 for information regarding equity issuances related to share-based compensation.

Common Share Repurchases:

On August 24, 2015, our Board of Trustees approved a common share repurchase program.  On March 15, 2017, our 
Board of Trustees authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0 million of our outstanding common shares over the twelve month 
period following the date of authorization.  In March 2018, this share repurchase authorization, of which $81.0 million was not 
utilized, expired.  On March 14, 2018, our Board of Trustees authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $150.0 million of 
our outstanding common shares over the twelve month period following the date of authorization.  In March 2019, this share 
repurchase authorization, of which $130.9 million was not utilized, expired.  On March 13, 2019, our Board of Trustees 
authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $150.0 million of our outstanding common shares over the twelve month period 
following the date of authorization. In March 2020, this share repurchase authorization, of which $129.2 million was not 
utilized, expired.  On March 10, 2020, our Board of Trustees authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $150.0 million of 
our outstanding common shares over the twelve months following the date of authorization, none of which has been utilized. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we repurchased and retired 711,000 of our common shares under the March 
2019 authorization at a weighted average price of $29.31 per share, for a total investment of $20.8 million. During the year 
ended December 31, 2019, we did not repurchase any common shares under our common share repurchase program.  During 
the year ended December 31, 2018, we repurchased and retired 2,970,209 of our common shares at a weighted average price of 
$29.67 per share for a total investment of $88.1 million, of which $69.0 million was under the March 2017 authorization and 
$19.1 million was under the March 2018 authorization.  The share repurchases discussed in this paragraph were completed prior 
to the special, one-time cash distributions in each of those years, which were in the amount of $3.50, $3.50 and $2.50 per 
common share/unit paid on October 20, 2020, October 23, 2019 and October 23, 2018, respectively.  The $150.0 million of 
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remaining authorization available under our share repurchase program as of December 31, 2020 is scheduled to expire on 
March 10, 2021.

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, certain of our employees and former employees surrendered 
184,068, 168,327 and 193,521 common shares owned by them, respectively, to satisfy their statutory tax withholding 
obligations in connection with the vesting of such common shares pursuant to our equity compensation plans.

Common Share and Unit Distributions:

On September 16, 2020 our Board of Trustees declared a special, one-time cash distribution of $3.50 per common share/
unit to shareholders/unitholders of record on October 1, 2020. On October 20, 2020, we paid this distribution to such 
shareholders/unitholders in the aggregate amount of $426.7 million.

On September 24, 2019, our Board of Trustees declared a special, one-time cash distribution of $3.50 per common share/
unit to shareholders/unitholders of record on October 7, 2019.  On October 23, 2019, we paid this distribution to such 
shareholders/unitholders in the aggregate amount of $427.7 million.  In February 2020, the number of earned awards for certain 
recipients of the Company’s restricted stock units and market-based LTIP Units was determined.  Pursuant to the terms of such 
awards, we paid a one-time catch-up cash distribution to these recipients in the aggregate amount of $2.9 million for 
distributions to common shareholders and unitholders declared by our Board of Trustees during such awards' performance 
measurement period.

On September 26, 2018, our Board of Trustees declared a special, one-time cash distribution of $2.50 per common share/
unit to shareholders/unitholders of record on October 9, 2018.  On October 23, 2018, we paid this distribution to such 
shareholders/unitholders in the aggregate amount of $304.7 million. In February 2019, the number of earned awards for certain 
recipients of the Company's restricted stock units was determined.  Pursuant to the terms of such awards, we paid a one-time 
catch-up cash distribution to these recipients in the aggregate amount of $1.2 million for distributions to common shareholders 
and unitholders declared by our Board of Trustees during such awards' performance measurement period.

The following characterizes distributions paid per common share for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 
2018: 

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Ordinary income  0.15 %  50.30 %  100.00 %
Return of capital  — %  — %  — %
Capital gain(1)  82.60 %  46.90 %  — %
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain  17.25 %  2.80 %  — %

 100.00 %  100.00 %  100.00 %

(1) The 2020 capital gain distribution amounts are comprised entirely of long-term capital gain determined under Section 1231
of the Code, which amounts are excluded from Section 1061 of the Code. Accordingly, for purposes of Section 1061 of the
Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder, the Company makes the following disclosures that the "One Year Amounts
Disclosure" and the "Three Year Amounts Disclosure" are $0.

Series D Preferred Shares:

Each of our 4,915,196 series D cumulative convertible preferred shares accrue dividends of $1.625, or 6.50% per annum 
of the liquidation amount, payable in equal quarterly payments. Our series D preferred shares are convertible, at the holder's 
option, into our common shares at a conversion rate of 0.6585 common shares per series D preferred share, which is equivalent 
to a conversion price of $37.97 per common share, or 3,236,657 additional common shares at December 31, 2020.  The 
conversion rate changed from 0.5813 to 0.6585 common shares per series D preferred share effective October 2, 2020 as a 
result of the common share distribution declared by our Board of Trustees in 2020.  The conversion rate changed from 0.5215 
to 0.5813 common shares per series D preferred share effective October 8, 2019 as a result of the common share distribution 
declared by our Board of Trustees in 2019.  The conversion rate changed from 0.480775 to 0.5215 common shares per series D 

EQUITY COMMONWEALTH

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

F-17



preferred share effective October 10, 2018 as a result of the common share distribution declared by our Board of Trustees in 
2018.

If our common shares trade at or above the then applicable conversion price, we may, at our option, convert some or all 
of the series D preferred shares into common shares at the then applicable conversion rate. If a fundamental change occurs, 
which generally will be deemed to occur upon a change in control or a termination of trading of our common shares (or other 
equity securities into which our series D preferred shares are then convertible), holders of our series D preferred shares will 
have a special right to convert their series D preferred shares into a number of our common shares per $25.00 liquidation 
preference, plus accrued and unpaid distributions, divided by 98% of the average closing market price of our common shares 
for a specified period before such event is effective, unless we exercise our right to repurchase these series D preferred shares 
for cash, at a purchase price equal to 100% of their liquidation preference, plus accrued and unpaid distributions. The issuance 
of a large number of common shares as a result of the exercise of this conversion right after a fundamental change may have a 
dilutive effect on net income attributable to Equity Commonwealth common shareholders per share for future periods.  As of 
December 31, 2020, we had 4,915,196 outstanding series D preferred shares that were convertible into 3,236,657 of our 
common shares.

Preferred Share Distributions:

Under our governing documents and Maryland law, distributions to our shareholders are to be authorized and declared by 
our Board of Trustees.  In 2020, our Board of Trustees declared distributions on our series D preferred shares to date as follows: 

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Dividend Per Share

January 10, 2020 January 30, 2020 February 18, 2020 $ 0.40625 
April 9, 2020 April 29, 2020 May 15, 2020 $ 0.40625 
July 8, 2020 July 29, 2020 August 17, 2020 $ 0.40625 
October 8, 2020 October 28, 2020 November 16, 2020 $ 0.40625 

The following characterizes distributions paid per preferred share for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 
2018: 

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Ordinary income  0.15 %  50.3 %  100.00 %
Return of capital  — %  — %  — %
Capital gain(1)  82.60 %  46.90 %  — %
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain  17.25 %  2.80 %  — %

 100.0 %  100.0 %  100.00 %

(1) The 2020 capital gain distribution amounts are comprised entirely of long-term capital gain determined under Section 1231
of the Code, which amounts are excluded from Section 1061 of the Code. Accordingly, for purposes of Section 1061 of the
Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder, the Company makes the following disclosures that the "One Year Amounts
Disclosure" and the "Three Year Amounts Disclosure" are $0.

Note 9.  Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interest represents the portion of the OP units not beneficially owned by the Company.  The ownership of 
an OP Unit and a common share of beneficial interest have essentially the same economic characteristics. Distributions with 
respect to OP Units will generally mirror distributions with respect to the Company’s common shares.  Unitholders (other than 
the Company) generally have the right, commencing six months from the date of issuance of such OP Units, to cause the 
Operating Trust to redeem their OP Units in exchange for cash or, at the option of the Company, common shares of the 
Company on a one-for-one basis.  As sole trustee, the Company has the sole discretion to elect whether the redemption right 
will be satisfied by the Company in cash or the Company’s common shares.  As a result, the Noncontrolling interest is 
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classified as permanent equity.  As of December 31, 2020, the portion of the Operating Trust not beneficially owned by the 
Company is in the form of OP Units and LTIP Units (see Note 12 for a description of LTIP Units).  LTIP Units may be subject 
to additional vesting requirements.  

The following table presents the changes in Equity Commonwealth’s issued and outstanding common shares and units for 
the year ended December 31, 2020: 

Common Shares
OP Units and 
LTIP Units Total

Outstanding at January 1, 2020 121,924,199 48,660  121,972,859 
Repurchase of shares (895,068) — (895,068) 
OP Unit redemption — (1,000) (1,000) 
Share-based compensation grants and vesting, net of forfeitures 493,424 195,856 689,280 
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 121,522,555 243,516  121,766,071 
Noncontrolling ownership interest in the Operating Trust  0.20 %

The carrying value of the Noncontrolling interest is allocated based on the number of OP Units and LTIP Units in 
proportion to the number of OP Units and LTIP Units plus the number of common shares.  We adjust the Noncontrolling 
interest balance at the end of each period to reflect the noncontrolling partners’ interest in the net assets of the Operating Trust. 
Net income is allocated to the Noncontrolling interest in the Operating Trust based on the weighted average ownership 
percentage during the period.  Equity Commonwealth’s weighted average ownership interest in the Operating Trust was 
99.82%, 99.96% and 99.96%, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Note 10.  Cumulative Other Comprehensive Loss

The following tables present the amounts recognized in cumulative other comprehensive loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Unrealized Loss 
on Marketable 

Securities

Balance as of January 1, 2019 $ (342) 

Other comprehensive income 342 

Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ — 

We did not reclassify any amounts out of cumulative other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Note 11.  Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Current:
State and local $ (248) $ (284) $ (3,156) 

Deferred:
State and local — (1,000) — 

Income tax expense $ (248) $ (1,284) $ (3,156) 

The tax expense recorded is primarily the result of the taxable gains from sales of properties.  During the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recorded $0.1 million and $1.6 million, respectively, related to uncertain tax positions, as part 
of our income tax provision.

A reconciliation of our effective tax rate and the U.S. Federal statutory income tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Taxes at statutory U.S. federal income tax rate  21.00 %  21.00 %  21.00 %
Dividends paid deduction and net operating loss utilization  (21.00) %  (21.00) %  (21.00) %
Federal taxes on built-in gain  — %  — %  — %
State and local income taxes  0.05 %  0.26 %  1.14 %
Effective tax rate  0.05 %  0.26 %  1.14 %

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had federal net operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards of approximately $18 million 
and $25 million, respectively.  These amounts can be used to offset future taxable income, if any.  The REIT will be entitled to 
utilize NOL carryforwards only to the extent that REIT taxable income exceeds our deduction for dividends paid.  NOLs arising 
in taxable years ending before January 1, 2018 can generally be carried forward 20 years, with no carryforward limitation on 
NOLs generated after that date.  Our NOL carryforwards expire in 2037.  

Note 12. Share-Based Compensation

Equity Commonwealth 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2015 Incentive Plan)

On June 16, 2015, at our 2015 annual meeting of shareholders, our shareholders approved the 2015 Incentive Plan. The 
2015 Incentive Plan replaced the Equity Commonwealth 2012 Equity Compensation Plan (as amended, the 2012 Plan). The 
Board of Trustees approved the 2015 Incentive Plan, subject to shareholder approval, on March 18, 2015 (the Effective Date). 
On January 26, 2016, the Board of Trustees approved an amendment to the 2015 Incentive Plan to allow the Compensation 
Committee (Committee) to authorize in an award agreement a transfer of all or a part of certain equity awards not for value to a 
“family member” (as defined in the 2015 Incentive Plan).  At our annual meeting of shareholders on June 20, 2019, our 
shareholders approved an amendment to the 2015 Incentive Plan to increase the number of common shares of beneficial interest 
authorized thereunder by 2,500,000. The following description of certain terms of the 2015 Incentive Plan is qualified in all 
respects by the terms of the 2015 Incentive Plan.

Eligibility. Awards may be granted under the 2015 Incentive Plan to employees, officers and non-employee directors of the 
Company, its subsidiaries or its affiliates, or consultants and advisors (who are natural persons) providing services to the 
Company, its subsidiaries or its affiliates, or any other person whose participation in the 2015 Incentive Plan is determined by 
the Committee to be in the best interests of the Company.
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Term. The 2015 Incentive Plan terminates automatically ten years after the Effective Date, unless it is terminated earlier by the 
Board of Trustees.

Shares Available for Issuance. Subject to adjustment as provided in the 2015 Incentive Plan, the maximum number of common 
shares of the Company that are available for issuance under the 2015 Incentive Plan is 5,750,000 shares. 

Awards. The following types of awards may be made under the 2015 Incentive Plan, subject to limitations set forth in the 2015 
Incentive Plan:

· Stock options;
· Stock appreciation rights;
· Restricted stock;
· Restricted stock units;
· Unrestricted stock;
· Dividend equivalent rights;
· Performance shares and other performance-based awards;
· Limited partnership interests in any partnership entity through which the Company may conduct its business in the
future;

· Other equity-based awards; and
· Cash bonus awards.

Recipients of the Company’s restricted shares have the same voting rights as any other common shareholder. During 
the period of restriction, holders of unvested restricted shares are eligible to receive dividend payments on their shares at the 
same rate and on the same date as any other common shareholder.  The restricted shares are service based awards and vest over 
a four-year period.

Recipients of the Company’s restricted stock units, or RSUs, are entitled to receive dividends with respect to the common 
shares underlying the RSUs if and when the RSUs are earned, at which time the recipient will be entitled to receive an amount 
in cash equal to the aggregate amount of cash dividends that would have been paid in respect to the common shares underlying 
the recipient’s earned RSUs had such common shares been issued to the recipient on the first day of the performance period.  
To the extent that an award does not vest, the dividends related to unvested RSUs will be forfeited.  The RSUs are market-based 
awards with a service condition and recipients may earn RSUs based on the Company’s total shareholder return, or TSR, 
relative to the TSRs of the companies that comprise the Nareit Office Index over a three-year performance period.  Following 
the end of the three-year performance period, the number of earned awards will be determined.  The earned awards vest in two 
tranches with 50% of the earned award vesting following the end of the performance period on the date the Committee 
determines the level of achievement of the performance metric and the remaining 50% of the earned award vesting 
approximately one year thereafter, subject to the grant recipient’s continued employment.  Compensation expense for the RSUs 
is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model and is recognized ratably from the grant date to the vesting date of each 
tranche.  

LTIP Units are a class of beneficial interests in the Operating Trust that may be issued to employees, officers or trustees 
of the Operating Trust, the Company or their subsidiaries, or LTIP Units. Time-based LTIP Units have the same general 
characteristics as restricted shares and market-based LTIP Units have the same general characteristics as RSUs.  Each LTIP 
Unit will convert automatically into an OP Unit on a one-for-one basis when the LTIP Unit becomes vested and its capital 
account is equalized with the per-unit capital account of the OP Units.  Holders of LTIP Units generally will be entitled to 
receive the same per-unit distributions as the other outstanding OP Units in the Operating Trust, except that market-based LTIP 
Units will not participate in distributions until expiration of the applicable performance period, at which time any earned 
market-based LTIP Units generally will become entitled to receive a catch-up distribution for the periods prior to such time. 

Administration. The 2015 Incentive Plan will be administered by the Committee, which will determine all terms and recipients 
of awards under the 2015 Incentive Plan.
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2020 Equity Award Activity

During the year ended December 31, 2020, 388,615 RSUs vested, and, as a result, we issued 388,615 common shares, 
prior to certain employees surrendering their common shares to satisfy tax withholding obligations (see Note 8).  Additionally, 
84,754 market-based LTIP Units vested and converted into OP Units (see Note 9).   

On September 16, 2020, our Board of Trustees appointed a new independent Trustee.  In accordance with the Company's 
compensation plan for independent Trustees, the Committee awarded this Trustee $0.1 million in restricted shares as part of her 
prorated compensation for the 2020-2021 year of service on the Board of Trustees.  This award equated to 2,526 shares valued 
at $30.39 per share, the closing price of our common shares on the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, on that day.  
These shares vest on June 23, 2021.

On June 23, 2020, in accordance with the Company’s compensation plan for independent Trustees, the Committee 
awarded each of the then nine independent Trustees $0.1 million in restricted shares or time-based LTIP Units as part of their 
compensation for the 2020-2021 year of service on the Board of Trustees.  These awards equated to 3,184 shares or time-based 
LTIP Units per Trustee, for a total of 19,104 shares and 9,552 time-based LTIP Units, valued at $31.41 per share and unit, the 
closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on that day.  These shares and time-based LTIP Units vest one year after the 
date of the award, on June 23, 2021.

On January 27, 2020, the Committee approved grants in the aggregate amount of 20,116 time-based LTIP Units, 40,841 
market-based LTIP Units at target (101,796 market-based LTIP Units at maximum), 85,058 restricted shares and 172,697 RSUs 
at target (430,447 RSUs at maximum) to the Company’s officers, certain employees, an eligible consultant and to Mr. Zell, the 
Chairman of our Board of Trustees, as part of their compensation for fiscal year 2019.  The restricted shares and time-based 
LTIP Units were valued at $32.81 per share and per unit, the closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on the grant 
date.  

2019 Equity Award Activity

During the year ended December 31, 2019, 384,811 RSUs vested, and, as a result, we issued 384,811 common shares, 
prior to certain employees surrendering their common shares to satisfy tax withholding obligations (see Note 8). 

On June 20, 2019, in accordance with the Company’s compensation plan for independent Trustees, the Committee 
awarded each of the nine independent Trustees $0.1 million in restricted shares or time-based LTIP Units as part of their 
compensation for the 2019-2020 year of service on the Board of Trustees.  These awards equated to 2,940 shares or time-based 
LTIP Units per Trustee, for a total of 23,520 shares and 2,940 time-based LTIP Units, valued at $34.01 per share and unit, the 
closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on that day.  These shares and time-based LTIP Units vested on June 20, 
2020.

On January 29, 2019, the Committee approved grants in the aggregate amount of 112,359 restricted shares and 228,128 
RSUs at target (568,609 RSUs at maximum) to the Company’s officers, certain employees and to Mr. Zell, the Chairman of our 
Board of Trustees, as part of their compensation for fiscal year 2018.  The restricted shares granted on January 29, 2019 were 
valued at $31.77 per share, the closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on that day.  

2018 Equity Award Activity

On October 28, 2018, 225,655 RSUs vested, and, as a result, we issued 225,655 common shares, prior to certain 
employees surrendering their common shares to satisfy statutory tax withholding obligations (see Note 8).

On June 20, 2018, in accordance with the Company’s compensation plan for independent Trustees, the Committee 
awarded each of the nine independent Trustees $0.1 million in restricted shares or time-based LTIP Units as part of their 
compensation for the 2018-2019 year of service on the Board of Trustees.  These awards equated to 3,200 shares or time-based 
LTIP Units per Trustee, for a total of 25,600 shares and 3,200 time-based LTIP Units, valued at $31.25 per share and unit, the 
closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on that day.  These shares and time-based LTIP Units vested on June 20, 
2019.
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On January 29, 2018, the Committee approved a grant of 125,409 restricted shares and 254,615 RSUs at target (634,628 
RSUs at maximum) to the Company’s officers, certain employees and to Mr. Zell, the Chairman of our Board of Trustees, as 
part of their compensation for fiscal year 2017.  The restricted shares granted on January 29, 2018 were valued at $29.78 per 
share, the closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on that day. 

Outstanding Equity Awards

The table below presents a summary of restricted share, RSU and LTIP Unit activity for the years ended December 31, 
2020, 2019 and 2018: 

Number
of

Restricted 
Shares and 
Time-Based 
LTIP Units

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Number
of

RSUs and 
Market-

Based LTIP 
Units

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2017 678,952 $ 27.41 2,131,947 $ 15.69 
Granted 154,209 30.05 634,628 14.90 
Vested (407,273) 27.06 (367,260) 15.79 
Not earned(1) — — (352,671) 15.47 

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 425,888 $ 28.70 2,046,644 $ 15.47 
Granted 138,819 32.20 568,609 15.91 
Vested (164,074) 28.60 (384,811) 15.53 
Not earned(1) — — (225,654) 15.57 
Forfeited (319) 31.08 (1,613) 15.56 

Outstanding at December 31, 2019 400,314 $ 29.95 2,003,175 $ 15.57 
Granted 136,356 32.47 532,243 16.12 
Vested (149,103) 29.65 (473,369) 15.79 
Not earned(1) — — (97,131) 15.97 
Forfeited(2) (1,879) 31.41 — — 

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 385,688 $ 31.52 1,964,918 $ 15.65 

(1) The table presents the maximum number of shares issued or issuable from outstanding equity awards.  RSUs and market-
based LTIP Units not earned are the shares market-based award recipients do not receive based on the performance
measurement completed at the end of the performance period.

(2) Restricted shares forfeited as a result of a resignation of an independent Trustee in November 2020.

The 385,688 unvested restricted shares and time-based LTIP Units as of December 31, 2020 are scheduled to vest as
follows: 139,629 shares/units in 2021, 112,986 shares/units in 2022, 80,505 shares/units in 2023 and 52,568 shares/units in 
2024.  As of December 31, 2020, the estimated future compensation expense for all unvested restricted shares and time-based 
LTIP Units was $5.9 million. Compensation expense for the restricted share and time-based LTIP Units is being recognized on 
a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of the award. The weighted average 
period over which the future compensation expense will be recorded for the restricted shares and time-based LTIP Units is 
approximately 2.2 years.

As of December 31, 2020, the estimated future compensation expense for all unvested RSUs and market-based LTIP 
Units was $11.5 million. The weighted average period over which the future compensation expense will be recorded for the 
RSUs and market-based LTIP Units is approximately 2.1 years. 
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The assumptions and fair values for the RSUs and market-based LTIP Units granted for the years ended December 31, 
2020, 2019 and 2018 are included in the following table on a per share and unit basis.

2020 2019 2018

Fair value of RSUs and market-based LTIP Units granted at the target amount $ 40.17 $ 39.65 $ 37.13 
Fair value of RSUs and market-based LTIP Units granted at the maximum amount $ 16.12 $ 15.91 $ 14.90 
Expected term (years) 4 4 4
Expected volatility  12.39 %  13.98 %  15.74 %
Expected dividend yield  — %  — %  1.68 %
Risk-free rate  1.41 %  2.52 %  2.26 %

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, we recorded $13.2 million, $14.4 million and $19.7 million, 
respectively, of compensation expense, net of forfeitures, in general and administrative expense for grants to our Trustees, 
officers and employees related to our equity compensation plans. Compensation expense recorded during the years ended 
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 includes $17,000, $0.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of accelerated vesting due to 
staffing reductions. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur.  At December 31, 2020, 2,291,152 shares/units remain available 
for issuance under the 2015 Incentive Plan.

Note 13.  Defined Contribution Plan

We have a defined contribution plan that covers employees meeting eligibility requirements. We match 100% of the first 
3% of compensation that an employee elects to defer plus 50% of compensation that an employee elects to defer exceeding 3% 
but not exceeding 5%, subject to a maximum of $8,000. The Company’s matching contribution vests immediately. The 
Company's contributions were $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 
2018, respectively.

Note 14.  Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we do not have any assets or liabilities measured at fair value. 

Properties Held and Used

As part of our office repositioning strategy adopted by our Board of Trustees, and pursuant to our accounting policy, in 
2018, we evaluated the recoverability of the carrying values of each of the real estate assets that comprised our portfolio and 
determined that due to the shortening of the expected periods of ownership as a result of the office repositioning strategy and 
current estimates of market value less estimated costs to sell, it was necessary to reduce the net book value of a portion of the 
real estate assets in our portfolio to their estimated fair values.  We anticipated the potential disposition of certain properties 
prior to the end of their remaining useful lives.  As a result, in the first quarter of 2018, we recorded an impairment charge 
related to 777 East Eisenhower Parkway and 97 Newberry Road of $12.1 million in accordance with our impairment analysis 
procedures.  We determined this impairment based on independent third party broker information, which are level 3 inputs 
according to the fair value hierarchy established in ASC 820.  We reduced the aggregate carrying value of these properties from 
$41.8 million to their estimated fair value less estimated costs to sell of $29.7 million.  These properties were sold in 2018 (see 
Note 3 for additional information).  We evaluated each of our properties and determined there were no additional valuation 
adjustments necessary at December 31, 2020 or 2019.
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Financial Instruments

In addition to the assets described in the above table, our financial instruments include our cash and cash equivalents, 
restricted cash and mortgage note payable.  At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair value of these additional financial 
instruments were not materially different from their carrying values, except as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Principal Balance Fair Value Principal Balance Fair Value

Mortgage note payable $ — $ — $ 25,433 $ 26,071 

The fair value of our mortgage note payable was based on estimates using discounted cash flow analyses and currently 
prevailing interest rates adjusted by credit risk spreads (level 3 inputs).

Other financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of rents 
receivable. As of December 31, 2020, no single tenant of ours is responsible for more than 10% of our consolidated revenues. 
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Note 15.  Earnings Per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (amounts in thousands except per 
share amounts): 

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Numerator for earnings per common share - basic:
Net income $ 452,093 $ 492,866 $ 272,908 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (799) (186) (95) 
Preferred distributions (7,988) (7,988) (7,988) 
Numerator for net income per share - basic $ 443,306 $ 484,692 $ 264,825 

Numerator for earnings per common share - diluted:
Net income $ 452,093 $ 492,866 $ 272,908 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (799) (186) (95) 
Preferred distributions — — (7,988) 
Numerator for net income per share - diluted $ 451,294 $ 492,680 $ 264,825 

Denominator for earnings per common share - basic and diluted:
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic(1) 121,786 122,091 122,314 
RSUs(2) 1,508 1,138 956 
LTIP Units(3) 75 174 115 
Series D preferred shares; 6.50% cumulative convertible(4) 3,237 2,857 — 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 126,606 126,260 123,385 

Net income per common share attributable to Equity Commonwealth common 
shareholders:

Basic $ 3.64 $ 3.97 $ 2.17 
Diluted $ 3.56 $ 3.90 $ 2.15 

Anti-dilutive securities:
Effect of Series D preferred shares; 6.50% cumulative convertible(4) — — 2,563 
Effect of LTIP Units 119 33 43 
Effect of OP Units(5) 102 14 1 

(1) The years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, include 157, 210, and 308 weighted-average, unvested, earned
RSUs, respectively.

(2) Represents weighted-average number of common shares that would have been issued if the year-end was the measurement
date for unvested, unearned RSUs.

(3) Represents the weighted-average dilutive shares issuable from LTIP Units if the year-end was the measurement date for
the periods shown.

(4) The Series D preferred shares are excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculation for the year ended December
31, 2018 because including the Series D preferred shares would also require that the preferred distributions be added back
to net income, resulting in anti-dilution.

(5) Beneficial interests in the Operating Trust.
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Note 16.  Segment Information

Our primary business is the ownership and operation of office properties, and we currently have one reportable segment. 
More than 99% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020 are from office properties.  

Note 17.  Related Person Transactions

The following discussion includes a description of our related person transactions for the years ended December 31, 2020, 
2019 and 2018. 

Two North Riverside Plaza Joint Venture Limited Partnership:  We entered into a lease on July 20, 2015 with Two North 
Riverside Plaza Joint Venture Limited Partnership, an entity associated with Mr. Zell, our Chairman, to occupy office space on 
the twentieth and twenty-first floors of Two North Riverside Plaza in Chicago, Illinois (20th/21st Floor Office Lease).  The 
initial term of the lease was approximately five years, expiring on December 31, 2020.  We made improvements to the office 
space utilizing the $0.7 million tenant improvement allowance pursuant to the lease.  In connection with the 20th/21st Floor 
Office Lease, we also had a storage lease with Two North Riverside Plaza Joint Venture Limited Partnership for storage space 
in the basement of Two North Riverside Plaza.  We terminated the storage lease, effective August 31, 2020. 

In December 2020, we entered into an amendment to the 20th/21st Floor Office Lease extending the lease term for one 
year, through December 31, 2021.  There are no renewal options. The lease payment for the extended term is approximately 
$0.3 million.

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, we recognized expense of $0.9 million, $0.9 million and $0.8 
million, respectively, pursuant to the 20th/21st Floor Office Lease and the related storage lease.  The future minimum lease 
payments scheduled to be paid by us during the term of this lease as of December 31, 2020 are $0.3 million in 2021.  As of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, we did not have any amounts due to Two North Riverside Plaza Joint Venture Limited 
Partnership pursuant to the 20th/21st Floor Office Lease.  

Note 18.  Subsequent Events

On January 11, 2021, we announced that our Board of Trustees declared a dividend of $0.40625 per series D preferred 
share, which will be paid on February 16, 2021 to shareholders of record on January 28, 2021.
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TrusteeTrustee
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Executive Officers
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Executive Vice President,Executive Vice President,
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Senior Vice President,Senior Vice President,
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Investor Contact Information
Phone: 312.646.2801
Email: ir@eqcre.com

Legal Counsel
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP

Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP

Transfer Agent
Equiniti Trust Company
1110 Centre Pointe Curve
Suite 101
Mendota Heights, MN 55120-4100

Phone: 855.235.0840
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Available Information
A copy of our 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K 
including the financial statements and schedules 
(excluding exhibits), as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, can be obtained without 
charge through our website at www.eqcre.com or 
by writing to our Secretary at our executive offices 
address.
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